

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2023

Exploring Leadership Skills Needed to Implement Mergers and Acquisitions in Ghana

Akwasi Effah-Adu *Walden University*

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Walden University

College of Management and Human Potential

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Akwasi Effah-Adu

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee
Dr. Edgar Jordan, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Cheryl Lentz, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2023

Abstract

Exploring Leadership Skills Needed to Implement Mergers and Acquisitions in Ghana

by

Akwasi Effah-Adu

MS, University of Ghana, 2004

BS, University of Ghana, 1991

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

August, 2023

Abstract

There has been consideration of increased investment in the banking industry in Ghana through mergers and acquisitions. Data shows that the financial performance of the merged banks does not support the investment in the industry, at least within the first 3 years after the merger or acquisition. Grounded in Burn's transformational leadership theory, the purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore the leadership skills used to implement the successful merger of two commercial banks in Ghana. Data were collected from eight senior officers using semistructured interviews, a review of relevant publications, and a reflective journal. The data were analyzed using Yin's 5-step data analysis technique, and four themes emerged: idealized influence, inspirational motivation, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration. A key recommendation is for leaders to articulate a clear vision, encourage teamwork, and engage the team in decision-making. The implications for positive social change include the potential to improve profitability and growth to retain skilled employees and reduce unemployment in the Ghanaian economy.

Exploring Leadership Skills Needed to Implement Mergers and Acquisitions in Ghana

by

Akwasi Effah-Adu

MS, University of Ghana, 2004 BS, B.S., University of Ghana, 1991

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

August 2023

Dedication

To Jesus Christ, who has seen me through this journey. I dedicate this research to my dear wife and daughter, who have supported and encouraged me throughout this program.

Acknowledgments

I will first like to thank my Lord and Saviour, Jesus Christ, for the strength, courage, and determination to go through this study. I would like to offer special thanks to my wife, Eugenia Effah-Adu, and daughter Eugenia for their sacrifices during this long journey. I would like to show my deepest appreciation to Mr. Fred Awuku for encouraging me to start this program. I would like to acknowledge all my committee members, Dr. Edgar Jordan, my chair; my success is a reflection of your commitment and your patience. Dr. Lentz Cheryl and Dr. Gregory Uche, thank you for your support in achieving my goal. Without your expertise, I wouldn't have achieved this success. My academic advisor Penn Kemp thank you for accommodating all my troubles and for your support day and night. All of you make Walden University a great institution of higher learning. Special thanks to Dr. Solomon Bonney (late), you didn't live to see this day, and finally, Dr. Moses Adu Gyimah, I appreciate your immense contribution.

Table of Contents

Li	st of Tables	V
Se	ction 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem	2
	Problem and Purpose	2
	Population and Sampling	3
	Nature of the Study	4
	Research Question	5
	Interview Questions	5
	Conceptual Framework	6
	Operational Definitions	7
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	7
	Assumptions	7
	Limitations	8
	Delimitations	8
	Significance of the Study	9
	Contribution to Business Practice	9
	Implications for Social Change	9
	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	10
	Leadership Style	. 11
	Transformational Leadership	. 14

	Argument Against Transformational Leadership	23
	Background of Mergers and Acquisitions	25
	Enactment of Laws and Regulations	27
	Merger and Acquisition Performance	31
	Causes of Merger and Acquisition Failures	33
	Merger and Acquisition Integration	35
	Human Resource Integration	39
	Cultural Integration	43
	Summary	45
	Transition	46
Se	ection 2: The Project	47
	Purpose Statement	47
	Role of the Researcher	47
	Participants	49
	Research Method and Design	50
	Research Method	51
	Research Design	52
	Population and Sampling	54
	Ethical Research	55
	Data Collection Instruments	56
	Data Collection Technique	59
	Data Organization Technique	60

Data Analysis	61
Reliability and Validity	63
Reliability	64
Validity	64
Transferability	66
Transition and Summary	66
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implica	ations for Change68
Introduction	68
Presentation of the Findings	69
Theme 1: Idealized Influence	70
Theme 2: Inspirational Motivation	75
Theme 3: Individualized Consideration	79
Theme 4: Intellectual stimulation	83
Summary	87
Applications to Professional Practice	89
Effective Business Practice	90
Implications for Social Change	91
Recommendations for Action	92
Recommendations for Further Research	93
Reflections	93
Conclusion	94
References	95

Appendix A: Email Invitation Letter	129
Appendix B: Interview Protocol Guide	130
Appendix C: National Institutes of Health (NIH) Certificate	132

List of Tables

Table 1. Occurrence Idealized Influence	70
Table 2. Inspirational Motivation	75
Table 3. Individualized Consideration	79
Table 4. Intellectual Stimulation	83

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

A global increase in investment activities in mergers and acquisitions exceeded 50,607 businesses in 2018 (U.S.\$ 4.1 trillion in 2018) and 49,327 businesses in 2019 (U.S.\$ 4.9 trillion) but dropped to 45,652 businesses in 2020 (U.S.\$ 2.8 trillion) due to the COVID-19 pandemic (Morgan, 2020). Cross-border mergers and acquisitions in 2015 increased from U.S.\$ 432 billion to U.S.\$ 721 billion (Schweizer et al., 2019).

Notwithstanding the aggregate of mergers and acquisitions market amounting to trillions of United States Dollars (US\$) investment annually and tens of thousands of businesses, research shows that the failure rate is as high as over 60% (Dhir, et al., 2019; Renneboog & Vansteenkiste, 2019). This represents over 30,364 businesses in 2018 (US\$ 2.46 trillion), 29,596 businesses in 2019 (US\$2.94 trillion), and 27,391 businesses (US\$ 1.68 trillion) in 2020 (Institute for Mergers Acquisitions and Alliances, 2019; Morgan, 2020; Renneboog & Vansteenkiste, 2019).

Researchers attribute the high failure rate to a lack of leadership skills at both the pre-acquisition and post-acquisition implementation stages (Cui & Leung, 2020; Khan et al., 2020; Sarala et al., 2019). Successful merger or acquisition increases return on investment (ROI), increase market competition, and advances technological innovation (Borodin et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2019; Olcay et al., 2019). According to Renneboog and Vansteenkiste (2019), mergers and acquisitions (inorganic growth) grow faster than organic growth and have become a global phenomenon (Bashan & Armon, 2019). In this study, my goal was to concentrate on the leadership skills banking executives need to implement successful mergers and acquisitions.

Background of the Problem

Mergers and acquisitions activities are corporate growth strategies adopted by corporate leaders all over the globe (Bashan & Armon, 2019; Dhir et al., 2019; Edi & Iravanti, 2019; Nkiwane & Chipeta, 2019; Teerikangas & Colman, 2019). The global transactions for mergers and acquisitions exceeded US\$ 4.1 trillion in 2018, with the United States of America and Europe accounting for more than 80% of the transactions (Schweizer et al., 2019). The failure rate, however, exceeds 70% (Reddy et al., 2019; Renneboog & Vansteenkiste, 2019), and this is because of a lack of knowledge and leadership skills in implementing the integration process during and after the acquisition (Cui & Leung, 2020; Khan et al., 2020; Sarala et al., 2019). Available research suggests that mergers and acquisitions are not new in Ghana, especially in the banking, petroleum, telecommunication, and brewery industries (Dartey-Baah et al., 2020; Musah et al., 2020; Omoregie et al., 2019). The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore the leadership skills for the successful implementation of mergers and acquisitions in the banking sector in Ghana.

Problem and Purpose

Poor implementation of the integration process is a cause of merger and acquisition failures and weak shareholders' ROI (Khan et al., 2020; Tampakoudis et al., 2020). Investment in mergers and acquisitions does not improve shareholders' value; over 70% of these efforts fail because of poor implementation (Dhir, et al., 2019; Renneboog & Vansteenkiste, 2019). The general business problem is that merger and acquisition failures result from poor planning and implementation by the merged or acquired

company's leadership. The specific business problem is that some banking leaders do not have the leadership skills needed to plan and implement mergers or acquisitions.

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore leadership skills used by some banking leaders to implement mergers and acquisitions successfully. I used semistructured interviews with five banking executives in Accra, Ghana. The population consisted of general managers (GMs), group managers, department heads, and branch managers employed before, during, and after a financial institution's merger. This study's results may affect positive social change by creating new job prospects, sustaining employment, and enhancing the economy for the community, customers, and other stakeholders.

Population and Sampling

The population for the study was a purposive sampling of eight participants selected from a universal bank in Ghana, head office in Accra, with experience as part of an acquisition phenomenon. Senior management members, departmental heads, and area managers who were in employment before, during, and after the merger constituted the population. Data sources included semistructured interview questions, public journals, audited financial statements, and internal newsletters. Purposive sampling is recommended when the group is identical in attitude, experience, sound knowledge regarding the research topic, and views to represent the entire population (Hennink & Kaiser, 2022; Levitt, 2021; Yin, 2018). Yin (2018) identified four approaches that determine sample size in qualitative research. These are (a) rules of thumb, based on a combination of methodological considerations and experience; (b) conceptual models,

based upon specific characteristics of the proposed study; (c) numerical guidelines derived from the empirical investigation; and (d) statistical formulae, based on the probability of obtaining a sufficient sample size (Yin, 2018). Hennink and Kaiser (2022) supported a single case study of five to 30 as an ideal number for interview participants in the qualitative case study research approach.

Nature of the Study

The three methods for research are qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods. A qualitative method is descriptive or exploratory and occurs in natural settings (Aspers & Corte, 2019; Kuehn & Rohlfing, 2022; Levitt et al., 2021). The qualitative method was the most suitable for this study because it is exploratory (Gioia, 2021; Levitt et al., 2021; Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The qualitative method is appropriate for exploring the research question of this study. In contrast, the quantitative method includes examining relationships within the phenomenon using hypotheses, construct models, and empirical data to explain behavior (Burkholder et al., 2020). A mixed method combines the qualitative and quantitative (Dawadi et al., 2021; Palinkas et al., 2019). The quantitative and mixed methods were not appropriate for this study because my focus was on the participants' role in developing an implementation strategy instead of testing the relationship among quantitative variables.

The common research designs for qualitative methodology include (a) case study, (b) ethnography, (c) phenomenology, and (d) narrative. Researchers use a case study research design when dealing with an in-depth study of complex issues (Yin, 2018), which was my focus in this study. I did not use an ethnography design because

ethnography is used to focus on the participants' cultural behavior (Koskull, 2020; Ploder & Hamann, 2021). Narrative research was not suitable for this study because my goal was not to extract information from the participants' lived experiences in a story form (Gang, 2022; Surangi, 2022). I did not use a phenomenological design because I focused on the impact of a process on an organization instead of the individual experience of a phenomenon (see Neubauer et al., 2019; Williams, 2021).

Research Question

What leadership skills do some banking leaders need to plan and implement mergers and acquisitions?

Interview Questions

- 1. What was the level of your involvement in the planning of the merger of the two institutions?
- 2. What are the essential leadership skills needed to implement the merger?
- 3. How does the application of leadership skills help in improving your planning process?
- 4. What was the feedback from the team in performing your role as a leader during the merger?
- 5. How did you communicate your vision to the team to drive their performance?
- 6. What strategy did you put in place to motivate the team during and after the integration process?
- 7. What are some of the difficulties that leaders face in implementing the integration of the merger?

- 8. How did you get along with the team during the implementation of the merger?
- 9. What were your general impressions of the performance of the merger?

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework for this study was Burns' (1978) transformational leadership theory. According to Burns' theory of transformational leadership, a leader has the power and ability to raise their followers' performance above the value of achieving the desired results and the process of achieving those results. Transformational leadership theory includes a perspective from which banking executives will view the complications associated with mergers and acquisitions implementation. The transformational leadership theory has four multidimensional models: (a) idealized influence or charismatic, (b) inspirational motivation, (c) intellectual stimulation, and (d) individualized consideration (Avolio et al., 1999; Burns, 1978). According to Avolio et al. (1999), a charismatic attribute of transformational leadership demonstrates trust, values, and ethics to the followers, while inspirational motivation provides meaning and challenge to members' work with inspirational messages to arouse emotions. Transformational leaders intellectually stimulate their followers by inspiring new ways of thinking through beliefs and traditions and changing old ways of doing things (Avolio et al., 1999; Bass et al., 2003; Burns, 1978). The transformational leader provides coaching and mentoring after identifying the followers' needs and abilities (Avolio et al., 1999; Northouse, 2019).

Transformational leadership was suitable as the framework for this study in two ways. First, I used the framework to explore the transformational leadership experience

of banking executives in acquisition integration. Second, I used transformational leadership to explore participants' thoughts on the outcome of team performance in mergers and acquisitions in Ghana.

Operational Definitions

Banking executives: Banking executives are chief executive officers (CEOs), directors, and senior supervisors who have the expertise, understanding, and information of an organization (Amewu & Alagidede, 2019; Kartadjumena & Rodgers, 2019)

Merger controls: Merger controls are procedures, processes, and regulations that deal with the review of mergers and acquisitions under antitrust laws (Carletti et al., 2020).

Merger integration: Merger integration is the degree of interaction and coordination between the two firms involved in the merger and acquisition (Oh & Johnston, 2020).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Research assumptions are important opinions, considerations, and facts that are taken as true without substantiation (McCrory & Stylianides, 2014). My first underlying assumption in this study was that the participants would offer reliable and complete information about their experiences in the implementation process of the merger and acquisition. I expected the participants to answer interview questions truthfully and willingly. My final assumption was that the information and data provided by the bank were reliable.

Limitations

Research limitations are uncontrollable essentials and weaknesses in a study that can limit the internal validity and generalization of the research (Svensson & Doumas, 2013). The first limitation of this study was the small sample size of eight bank management staff present before, during, and after an acquisition. The participants were all from one bank, which could have limited the generalization of the results. The second limitation was that participation was restricted to those willing to offer information based on their experience in the acquisition process. The regional managers and department heads who agreed to participate in the study may have been unwilling to give some important information for fear of victimization by their superiors. However, the regional managers were aware of the participant identity protection during and after the study.

Delimitations

Delimitations are restrictions of the study that are in the researcher's control (Paechter, 2013). In this study, my goal was to engage leaders in a bank that was part of an acquisition in Ghana and therefore have the lived experience of merger and acquisition. Participants were limited to management staff present before, during, and after the acquisition process. I focused on two foreign banks (Bank X and Bank Y) that merged their activities in Ghana in 2012. I did not focus on nonmanagement staff who were not decision-makers and excluded executives who joined the bank after the completion of the acquisition process.

Significance of the Study

Contribution to Business Practice

Investors expect ROI through profit maximization and stabilizing the business environment (Cui & Leung, 2020). Successful mergers and acquisitions might maximize profit and ensure the stability of the firms involved (Cui & Leung, 2020). The study may contribute to business practice because of the potential to improve executives' understanding of transformational leadership and its implication on employee management during the implementation of mergers and acquisitions.

Ghana has limited literature on mergers and acquisitions (Musah et al., 2020). The findings from this study may be used by organizational leaders to develop a clearer understanding of the effect of mergers and acquisitions on staff retention, performance, and future successful acquisition. Investors and institutions may use the findings to determine how to more effectively structure mergers and acquisitions. Practitioners may use the findings from the study to maintain core employees for a successful business. The goal of successful mergers and acquisition integration is to improve shareholder value and enable management to remain focused on delivering successful mergers and acquisition strategies.

Implications for Social Change

During the merger and acquisition process, employees experience anxiety and mistrust from the leaders, which may result in employee emotional apprehension leading to resistance throughout the process (Khan et al., 2020). The findings may contribute to senior managers' understanding of the effective leadership skills needed to implement

mergers and acquisitions' complexities and improve employee morale (Rodriguez-Sanchez et al., 2020). The study may contribute to positive social change because successful mergers and acquisitions will mean retaining skilled employees (Bansal, 2020). New job opportunities may be possible due to the results of this study because successful mergers and acquisitions could lead to business expansion and create economic opportunities for the community, customers, and service providers.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

This section includes a review of existing literature on mergers and acquisitions and the primary tenant of transformational leadership theory postulated by Burns (1978) and expanded by Bass (1985). The literature review includes 223 peer-review articles and books. Of the articles, over 80% are sourced within 5 years of the estimated graduation date. I reviewed peer-reviewed scholarly articles and seminal books as part of the materials.

The purpose of the literature review is to summarize and synthesize existing scholarly peer-review articles and seminal materials fundamental to the conceptual framework of the study (Snyder, 2019). A literature review can be used to identify gaps and potential themes that may emerge in current research and support future research (Snyder, 2019). In this study, I explored the transformational leadership skills needed by leaders to implement mergers and acquisitions successfully. This section has 11 subdivisions: (a) leadership style, (b) transformation leadership style, (c) criticism against transformational leadership style, (d) background of mergers and acquisition, (e) enactment of laws and regulations, (f) mergers and acquisition performance, (g) causes of

mergers and acquisition failures, (h) integration process, (i) human resource integration process, (j) cultural integration, and (k) summary. The literature review concludes with a summary highlighting the gaps and potential themes that may emerge in the literature and the contribution to filling those gaps.

In this study, I used several strategies for searching relevant literature for the study, including electronic and printed books and online searches for articles and journals. I obtained the information by examining the works of researchers and professionals in the field of study, dissertations, and peer-reviewed literature in relevant journals. Most of the articles and materials that I reviewed for the study are available in Walden University Library database. I accessed articles and other information through various electronic sources such as EBSCO databases, Google Scholar, Business Source Complete, Emerald Management Journal, ABI / INFORM Complete, ScienceDirect, and Sage Premier. I conducted the electronic search using keywords including *leadership style, transactional leadership, transformational leadership, mergers and acquisition, integration, value creation, bank mergers,* and *regulatory framework*. The references in this study have 79% of materials less than 5 years from the anticipated graduation date and 92% of peer-reviewed articles that meet the DBA doctoral research study requirements.

Leadership Style

In today's business' changing environment, leadership is the most important that inspires an organization's development; however, leadership style determines how a leader will develop an organization after a change, like mergers or acquisitions.

Leadership influences followers' behavior regarding the organizational goal and strategy. According to Al Harbi et al. (2019), leadership articulates the organizational vision and builds an excellent personal relationship between followers. To date, researchers noted that leadership directly or indirectly affects team commitment and workplace performance (Xie, 2020) and influences followers' behavior regarding the organizational goal and strategy (Al Harbi et al., 2019).

Businesses face numerous challenges due to uncertainties amid growing competition, technological revolution, and globalization. These challenges result in both border and foreign mergers and acquisitions cumulating organizational change (Page & Schoder, 2019). The change resulting from mergers and acquisitions creates employee resistance, and organizations need visionary leaders who can provide safety and support for the new entity (Kuntz et al., 2019; Page & Schoder, 2019). A change like mergers and acquisitions calls for an appropriate leadership style for successful implementation.

Research on the impact of leadership style on employee attitude showed that different leadership styles impact employee engagement and mood (Ambad et al., 2021; Kuntz et al., 2019). When top executives implement appropriate human resource policies and adopt the proper leadership style, it may enhance employee performance and commitment during an organizational change like mergers and acquisitions (Ambad et al., 2021; Mekpor & Dartey-Baah, 2020). Leadership roles come with different management styles, and each style is expected to influence the success or failure of postmerger and acquisition integration performance.

Research suggests that an essential element of business survival is effective leadership. Leaders can choose from an array of leadership styles outlined by management theorists to promote organizational change, like mergers and acquisitions (Mansaray, 2019). However, the common management theories are transactional leadership (Bass, 1985; Kuntz et al., 2019), transformational leadership (Avolio et al., 1999; Bass, 1985; Burns, 1978), situational leadership (Daniels et al., 2019; Wuryani et al., 2021), laissez-faire leadership (Donkor & Zhou, 2020; Norris et al., 2021), and servant leadership (Eva et al., 2019; Liu, 2019). When leaders adopt the best style in managing employees during a change process, the process might positively impact employees' retention and successful implementation.

Available literature suggests a growing debate on the best leadership style to meet the challenging environment. Researchers have argued that transformational leadership is the best style suitable to influence employees and drive significant organizational change, like mergers and acquisitions (Cui & Leung, 2020; Mansaray, 2019; Mekpor & Dartey-Baah, 2020; Xie, 2020). Transformational leadership drives employees' commitment to organizational ideas to change and innovative behavior (Kuntz et al., 2019; Mekpor & Dartey-Baah, 2020) and has a more positive influence on employee creative behavior to drive organizational change like mergers and acquisitions (Burns, 1978). The ability of leaders to use leadership capabilities and style may enable the leader to impact the changing environment.

Transformational Leadership

Burns introduced the concept of transformational leadership style in 1978, and
Bass expanded the concept in 1985. According to Burns (1978), a transformational leader
identifies and uses followers' needs and demands to find growth opportunities. Bass
(1985) suggested a relationship between leaders and followers that remained the central
principle of transformational leadership. According to Bass (1985), trust, respect, and
admiration drive the relationship between leader and follower. Transformational
leadership provides an inspirational vision, gives individual attention to employees,
encourages employees to challenge the current situation, and makes the environment
more effective (Bass, 1985). A leader can lead and change the status quo through the four
primary characteristics identified by the theorist.

The transformational leadership theorist identified four basic characteristics: (a) idealized influence, (b) inspirational motivation, (c) intellectual stimulation, and (d) individual consideration (Alwahaibi, 2019; Bass, 1985; Northouse, 2019; Xie, 2020). Transformational leaders who use charismatic or idealized influence demonstrate the follower's trust, values, and ethics (Avolio et al., 1999; Bass & Riggio, 2006; Bass et al., 2003). Leaders who use inspirational motivation provide meaning and challenge to followers' work using inspirational messages to arouse emotions (Avolio et al., 1999; Bass & Riggio, 2006). Transformational leaders' intellectual stimulation attribute inspires new ways of thinking by challenging beliefs, traditions, and old ways of doing things (Avolio et al., 1999). The leader's individualized consideration characteristic provides coaching and mentoring after identifying the followers' needs and abilities (Avolio et al.,

1999). Together, the four components of the transformational leader affect employee creativity in the workplace, and leaders must strategically position themselves to stimulate the employee (Kasimoglu & Ammari, 2020). The transformational leaders' attributes outlined by Bass (1985) may provide the leader with the skills to meet the human resource challenges associated with the post-merger and acquisition integration process. However, several other factors may influence the leader's decision-making process in a changing environment.

Reza (2019) identified four main characteristics of a transformational leader. Reza stated that this type of leader is (a) a vision builder, (b) a standard-bearer, (c) an integrator, and (d) a developer. Other researchers like Xie (2020) identified some unique characteristics of transformational leadership compared to servant leadership as (a) articulating a vision, (b) fostering the acceptance of group goals, (c) setting high-performance expectations, (d) providing appropriate model, (e) intellectual stimulation, and (f) individualized support. According to Xie (2020), a transformational leader drives their followers by directing their vision, promoting the acceptance of team goals, and developing individual team member's performance throughout their career period. These behaviors may motivate the leaders to affect individual employees' attitudinal change, improved productivity, and creativity for successful mergers and acquisitions performance.

Transformational leadership strongly influences corporate reorganization through its elements of idealized influence, intellectual stimulation, inspirational motivation, and individualized consideration (Dung & Hai, 2020; Hosna et al., 2021; Xie, 2020). These

elements are critical components for successful change management (Alwahaibi, 2019), positively impact the employee's mentality and behavior during an organizational change like mergers and acquisitions (Cahyono et al., 2020; Dung & Hai, 2020), and drive employee performance at the workplace (Gashema, 2019). Furthermore, leaders must improve employee job satisfaction because it can enhance motivation and impact employee psychology, attitude, and behavior toward organizational change (Dung & Hai, 2020). Williams Jr. et al. (2018) proposed a model describing the relationship between transformational leaders, charisma, credibility, and organizational performance. Williams Jr. et al. (2018) concluded that transformational leadership positively correlates with organizational performance, while charisma regulates the relationship between transformational leadership and organizational performance. However, the transformational leader's credibility in a changing environment like mergers and acquisitions has important implications for people in leadership positions who develop and implement a strategy (Williams Jr. et al., 2018).

Employees' apprehension during organizational change is due to a lack of trust in the new management. The importance of a trusting relationship between transformational leadership and the followers fosters the employees' organizational identity, which the leader must overcome (Altunoglu et al., 2019; Dirks et al., 2022; Khattak et al., 2020; Siswanto & Yuliana, 2022). Transformational leadership may overcome mistrust by creating transparent organizational communication during and after an organizational change, like mergers and acquisitions (Yue et al., 2019). According to Yue et al. (2019), transformational leadership creates transparent communication that positively affects

organizational trust and employee openness to change. This trust culminates into interpersonal trust to drive team performance (Mahdikhani & Yazdani, 2020; Siswanto & Yuliana, 2022). With the increase in foreign direct investment through mergers and acquisitions, organizational change is inevitable. The change involves organizational restructuring, which might require effective communication, setting up teams, developing a better organizational climate, and creating trust and beliefs between the organization and the employees for better performance (Owie, 2019).

The concept of transformational leadership revolves around leaders who provide long-term goals, inspiration, and stimulation to their followers to exceed their capacity and achieve their targets (Avolio & Bass, 2004; Burns, 1978). However, the transformational leader must build leader-follower engagement driven by motivation and inspiration to achieve their objective (Alwahaibi, 2019; Bass, 1985). Bass and Avolio (1997) stated that followers trust, respect, and admire their leader, and transformational leadership provides an inspirational vision and gives individual attention to employees (Khattak et al., 2020). The importance of employee trust and respect relationships stems from employees' apprehension during mergers and acquisitions to foster the employees' organizational identity (Khattak et al., 2020). Bass (1985), therefore, encourages employees to challenge the status quo and make the environment more effective. Hence the choice of the right leadership style by leaders may provide the right environment to implement a successful business change like mergers and acquisitions.

Every employee aims to achieve career success with an organization. However, organizational changes like mergers and acquisitions may bring staff apprehension that

can lead to exit intention before, during, and after the change process. Al-Ghazali (2020) examined the relationship between transformational leadership and perceived career success and concluded that transformational leaders enhance employees' perceived career success through trust and respect. Followers of transformational leadership theory argue that the leader provides empowerment to align their follower's goals to that of the organization to achieve the desired result and empowers their followers psychologically to meet their commitment and share knowledge in the organization (Han et al., 2020). Transformational leaders have extensive knowledge and understanding of the workplace environment to ensure sustainable change that engages employee attention and impacts workplace productivity (Alwahaibi, 2019; Han et al., 2020). Alwahaibi (2019) and Han et al. (2020) suggestions may encourage leaders to adopt appropriate leadership behavior for employee workplace productivity in a changing environment.

Digitization, globalization, and demographic change bring competition, affecting both employee morale and attitude at the workplace. According to Faupel and Suss (2019), the transformational leadership style positively influences employees' attitudes and behavior during an organizational change like mergers and acquisitions. The leadership style promotes employees' readiness and commitment to change and motivates them to support it (Faupel & Suss, 2019). Faupel and Suss expanded the knowledge of transformational leadership during an organizational change in preparing managers to influence employees confidently. Although organizational change, like merger and acquisition, is associated with work stress and employees' turnover intention, transformational leadership characteristics positively influence turnover intention and

lower work stress (Harb & Sidani, 2019; Manopp, 2020). Consequently, studies show that transformational leaders promote employees and individual responsibility, increasing productivity and performance at the workplace (Buil et al., 2019; Langat et al., 2019). The obligation, therefore, is on the organization to select, develop, and invest in the right leaders who can implement successful changes like mergers and acquisitions.

Transformational leaders build the right environment of admiration, loyalty, respect, participation, and involvement of employees, which will, in turn, promote their commitment and performance during and after mergers and acquisition implementation (Buil et al., 2019; Langat et al., 2019). Mergers and acquisition activities are a change process, and employees' attitude to change is an essential element of implementation success. Leaders' transformational leadership skills and attitude toward the change process determine the success or failure of mergers and acquisition implementation (Farahnak et al., 2020). Amankwaa et al. (2019) examined the relationship between transformational leadership and job autonomy, affective commitment, and supportive management during an effective change implementation in a retail bank. Amankwaa et al. (2019) concluded that when leadership behavior allows for employee freedom on the job and a feeling of organizational belonging, managers can foster employee innovation and business success in the financial sector (Amankwaa et al., 2019). Cahyono et al. (2020) noted a positive relationship between transformational leadership and job satisfaction amplified by contingent compensation. However, the relationship is more perverse, where the transformational leader shows the idealized influence and intellectual stimulation characteristics (Hosna et al., 2021). Practitioners must therefore define

leadership roles and styles before leaders roll out the merger or acquisition integration process.

Leaders face challenges in mergers or acquisitions. These challenges include negative emotions, demotivation, cultural differences, and institutional pressures (Rizwan et al., 2020). The challenges are critical for the success of leaders in providing job satisfaction for the general employees. The transformational leader's innovative skills likely influence their employees' creativity and innovativeness to impact the organization (Rizwan et al., 2020). The literature's outcome highlights the critical role leaders have in employee retention and motivation in the job environment to ensure successful mergers and acquisitions.

Transformational leaders' four characteristics influence different aspects of employee behavior and performance during mergers and acquisitions or any other change process (Mahmood et al., 2019). Mahmood et al. examined the impact of transformational leadership on employees' creative process of handling complex tasks. The findings suggested that the transformational leader significantly influences employees' creativity in handling complex processes and employee efficiency (Mahmood et al., 2019). However, a transformational leader's impact on employee efficiency depends on the level of knowledge sharing by the leader (Dwivedi et al., 2020). Therefore, top management should design strategies to facilitate knowledge sharing between senior management and subordinates, especially during mergers and acquisitions, that may improve efficiency and performance.

Business executives require employees to show commitment during and after the mergers and acquisitions integration process. However, Hai et al. (2020) concluded that mergers and acquisitions create employee apprehension and uncertainties affecting organizational commitment and citizenship. Palalic and Mhamed (2020) posited that organizations use different leadership styles to manage employees to achieve citizenship behavior and loyalty. That notwithstanding, the transformational leader exhibits the importance of leading organizations to success and that there is a relationship between transformational leadership and organizational commitment (Palalic & Mhamed, 2020). A study by Ibrahim et al. (2019) to find a leadership theory that best influences employees' intention to leave an organization during a change, the findings suggested that transformational leadership style directly impacts employee intention to leave the organization and facilitates employee engagement. Like mergers and acquisitions, organizational change needs leaders who can change their style to suit the new organization (Al Harbi et al., 2019; Harb & Sidani, 2019). Al Harbi et al. (2019) suggested that the transformational leader's inspirational motivation characteristic support the required leadership style for successfully implementing mergers and acquisitions integration.

A transformational leader motivates behavior where the employees must use diverse skills (Yizhong et al., 2019). As part of the transformational leadership style, the leader identifies a task from start to finish, assigns greater independence to the employee, and expects regular feedback (Northouse, 2019; Yizhong et al., 2019). To understand the influence a transformational leader has on an employee's role due to the changes in the

policy, Yizhong et al. (2019) examined the mediating role of job characteristics in transformational leadership and employability relationship. Yizhong et al. concluded that transformational leaders could improve employees' employability through job demands, skill discretion, decision authority, and perceived organizational support. Likewise, the transformational leader can motivate the followers to be more efficient and effective and enrich job resources (Al Harbi et al., 2019; Yizhong et al., 2019). Yizhong et al. (2019) acknowledged that managers need to demonstrate transformational leadership skills by paying attention to employees' career development. Al Harbi et al. (2019) concluded that transformational leader combines diverse skills by creating self-confidence, intrinsic motivation, inspiration, supporting innovation, personal development, and social relationships among employees.

The organizational change brought about by mergers and acquisitions creates workplace phobia(s) and increases employee turnover intention. Consequently, one of the objectives of the organizational leader is to maintain a favorable climate to support the change brought about by the merger or acquisition (Eliyana & Maarif, 2019). During a change process, like mergers and acquisitions implementation, the leadership style determines the level of employee commitment post-merger and acquisition (Afsar & Umrani, 2020). A transformational leader influences employee turnover and work engagement and prevents employees from forming the intention to leave the organization (Bose et al., 2021; Eliyana & Maarif, 2019; Ibrahim et al., 2019). The literature supports transformational leadership skills that may be appropriate to successfully manage change, like mergers and acquisitions.

To achieve post-merger and acquisition success, leaders must focus on employee workplace engagement. Leaders may achieve employee engagement through motivation and providing strategic direction to employees, especially the acquired company (Han et al., 2020). Han et al. showed that transformational leaders motivate their employees by incentive and support to accept changes during post-acquisition integration. Second, transformational leader positively impacts the psychology of the employee's readiness to change better than transactional and laissez-faire leaders (Han et al., 2020). The CEO plays an essential role in the success of every organization through the planning and implementation of new strategies. The CEO's transformational leadership trait helps to achieve responsibility (Zuraik & Kelly, 2019). The literature concluded that the transformational leadership style of the leader improves workplace employee engagement and mergers and acquisitions outcomes.

Argument Against Transformational Leadership

Despite the plethora of studies and research supporting transformational leadership theory as the best leadership style with a positive relationship with a commitment to change, openness to change, and readiness to change (Peng et al., 2020), there are available studies that suggest the contrary. Hai et al. (2020) investigated whether transformational leadership influences high-performance human resources practices on employee job engagement and organizational citizenship behavior. Hai et al. (2020) revealed that transformational leadership moderated high performance with employee job engagement in countries like South Korea. In contrast, in the United States,

transformational leadership mediated only the relationship between human resource performance and corporate citizenship behavior (Hai et al., 2020).

In a similar study, Poturak et al. (2020) suggested that transformational leadership is more pronounced in developed countries than in a group-oriented and depressed culture like developing countries because of their charismatic and simulative features.

Crede et al. (2019) investigated the relationship between transformational leadership behavior and a country's cultural value and practices. The findings were that cultural values and practices moderate transformational leadership and employee performance (Crede et al., 2019). In some countries whose culture contrasts with transformational leadership style, the employee-performance relationship is visible (Crede et al., 2019). In the same way, when two companies with different cultural environments merge, the transformational leadership theory may not succeed.

Yousaf (2017) evaluated the usefulness of transformational leadership using examples of political leadership from South Asia and concluded that, the concept of transformational leadership is practically non-existent, especially for leaders who gain popularity and achieve their goals. Even though transformational leadership might help attain a particular plan, Yousaf (2017) believed that the theory might not have the desired impact on all stakeholders unless backed by a transactional strategy. Practitioners must know that the over-reliance on one leadership theory over the other may not achieve the desired result. Still, leaders must vary leadership styles across countries to achieve success in a merger or acquisition environment.

Fourie and Hohne (2019) argued that public expectation of the perfection of transformational leadership theory puts some extra burden on executives in a changing environment. In some instances, the heroic bias directed toward transformational leaders points towards the conception that it is odd for executives to fail (Fourie & Hohne, 2019; Yousaf, 2017). Such burdens and expectations may affect the performance of a transformational leader in the long run and their ability to manage an important change like mergers and acquisitions. Several other factors can influence the decision process and outcomes of mergers and acquisitions. However, I reviewed the transformational leadership theories that may support and improve the results of mergers and acquisitions implementation in Ghana.

Background of Mergers and Acquisitions

Every business leader's objective is to maximize profit by increasing market share, improving product diversification, gaining patent rights, acquiring new technology, and, finally, maximizing shareholders' value. Leaders achieve this objective through organic or inorganic growth. Organic growth relies on the internal ability and resources of the company (Shah & Butt, 2019). However, the organic process slows down growth due to the multiple internal approval processes (Shah & Butt, 2019). Inorganic growth like mergers and acquisitions is getting an already established company to add to an existing company for fast and easy growth and ready access to a new market (Hossain, 2021; Renneboog & Vansteenkiste, 2019; Shah & Butt, 2019). The merger and acquisition phenomena are popular governance structure and primary growth strategy that strategically combines one firm's resources with another (Dhir, et al., 2019; Edi &

Iravanti, 2019; Hossain, 2021; Nkiwane & Chipeta, 2019; Shah & Butt, 2019; Teerikangas & Colman, 2019). According to Renneboog and Vansteenkiste (2019), mergers and acquisitions grow faster than organic growth and have become a global phenomenon (Bashan & Armon, 2019; Hossain, 2021). The aggregate investment of trillions of USD in the mergers and acquisitions phenomenon calls for leaders who have deep knowledge of leadership styles to handle the complexities of combining different organizations.

Mergers and acquisitions have been in existence since the 19th century.

According to Thomas and Cardot (2016), the phenomenon reached a crescendo on a national scale in the 19th century when firms started acquiring other companies from their industry to increase market share and enjoy partnerships through efficiency. As the mergers and acquisitions phenomenon developed, multinational businesses increased their global presence through acquisitions but focused on similar companies with headquarters in their local market (Thomas & Cardot, 2016). Haspeslagh and Jemison (1991) outlined merger and acquisition types, including arrangement-merger, forward acquisition, and backward acquisition. Leaders must define the type of merger or acquisition before determining the bidding price.

Available literature confirms the statement that investment in mergers and acquisitions is on the increase on a global scale. Investment in mergers and acquisitions is only behind the economies of the United States, China, Japan, and Germany (Schweizer et al., 2019). The total value of M&A in 2017 and 2018 were U.S.\$ 3.7 trillion and U.S.\$ 4.1 trillion, respectively, covering over 44,000 transactions (Morgan, 2019). Schweizer et

al (2019) have attributed the growth to an increase in cross-border mergers and acquisitions from US\$432 billion to US\$721 billion in 2015, with China alone contributing US\$128 billion. The increase in investment in mergers and acquisitions globally calls for exemplary leadership to implement the phenomenon to achieve ROI growth. However, some mergers and acquisition practitioners have leadership challenges where laws and regulations curtail the growth and outcome of mergers and acquisitions globally.

Enactment of Laws and Regulations

Governments all over the world have introduced regulations and laws to determine the outcome of mergers and acquisitions. Regulations and laws protect the interest of shareholders and other stakeholders in the industries. Antitrust laws and regulations are mergers and acquisitions controls to regulate mergers and acquisitions practitioners (Carletti et al., 2020; Tyagi, 2020). Carletti et al. (2020) investigated merger control reforms in 19 countries from 1987–2004 and concluded that merger controls correlate positively with the profitability of the new company. These laws and regulations are to protect consumers (a) against monopolies created from the acquisitions, (b) promote fairness, and (c) sustain the investment in mergers and acquisitions (Carletti et al., 2020). The government's enactment of laws and regulations redirected investment into Africa and the emerging market where mergers and acquisition controls are relaxed. The need for leaders with the requisite skills to manage and understand these laws and regulations is paramount.

The United States and the European Union are the two most prominent legal

jurisdictions in the world where mergers and acquisitions are concerned (Hu & Ngo, 2015). Whereas laws and regulations on mergers and acquisitions began in 1914 in the United States, Germany introduced the Act against Restraints in Competition in 1973; Canada introduced the Federal Competition Act in 1986, and most industrialized countries in the 1990s (Carletti et al., 2020). According to Dinc and Erel (2013), the E.U. Merger Regulation 1989, amended in 1997, determined the European Union's approach to mergers and acquisitions. The result of the enactments is to moderate abuse and waste in the mergers and acquisitions process by leaders.

In the United States, the Department of Justice (DOJ) and the Federal Trade Commission (FTC) oversee merger and acquisition reviews (Robertson & Roush, 2013; Sanders, 2019). In 1974, the United States of America enacted the antitrust law known as the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvement Act (HSR Act). The HSR Act provided a 30-day waiting period for mergers and acquisitions to consummate and slow down significant transactions U.S. enforcers delayed merging companies (Robertson & Roush, 2013). The rationale for the waiting period was to allow for the public and the judge to scrutinize the merger transactions to determine the absence of corrupt influence(s) on the legal process (Robertson & Roush, 2013; Sanders, 2019). The literature suggested that the U.S. DOJ and the FTC used section 7 of the Clayton Act to challenge monopolistic and antisocial horizontal mergers and acquisitions (Hu & Ngo, 2015; Robertson & Roush, 2013; Sanders, 2019). The Antitrust Division of the U.S.DOJ resisted the AT&T acquisition of T-Mobile operations in the United States because the DOJ believed that the merger of the two companies would create unfair competition in the telecom industry

(Majumdar et al., 2013). The same antitrust law in the United States discouraged the Dollar Thrifty Car Rentals by AVIS and objected to the mergers and acquisitions of Texas Instrument and National Semiconductors, Express Scripts and Medco, and Kinder Morgan and El Paso Corporation (Bush & Gelb, 2012). The regulations and the laws have determined the outcome of significant mergers and acquisitions in the United States of America.

In the banking industry, the United States enacted the Community Reinvestment Act (CRA) to curtail the monopoly in the banking sector by way of mergers or acquisitions (Marquis et al., 2012). According to Marquis et al. (2012), the CRA ensured that banks lived up to their corporate social responsibilities toward the treatment of communities. In addition to the CRA, the United States introduced the Foreign Investment Security Act (FISA) of 2007 to strengthen the foreign attachment of local firms. Though the CRA reduced the inconsistencies in the mergers and acquisitions bidding prices and curtailed the growth of monopolies, the Act fell short of the process of integration to avoid employees' agitations.

The European Commission Enacted Council Regulation No. 4064 / 89 to block foreign takeovers, creating dominant positions and inhibiting effective competition (Carletti et al., 2020). According to Carletti et al. (2020), in 2010, the European Commission decided on over 270 merger cases, including high-profile cases such as Oracle / Sun Microsystems, Monsanto / Syngenta, and Unilever / Sara Lee Body. In 1968, the United Kingdom (U.K.) introduced the City Code control takeover process of mergers and acquisitions (McCann, 2013). The primary aim of the code was to protect

target shareholders' interests and allow the market to operate freely (McCann, 2013).

To further strengthen the mergers and acquisitions legal framework, the European Union (E.U.) and the United States established the alliances working group in 1991, called Bilateral Competition Agreement (BCA). The purpose of the BCA is to study different mergers and acquisitions approaches in the United States and the E.U. (Damro & Guay, 2012). According to Damro and Guay (2012), the agreement included: standardized coordination, emphasized the exchange of information, and introduced fairness. In 1999, following the disagreement between the U.S. and the E.U. on the merger of Boeing and McDonnell Douglas, despite the existence of the BCA, the two bodies came up with the Administrative Agreement on Attendance (AAA) to explain processes already taking place temporarily within the Bilateral Agreement. In 2011, the parties signed the Best Practice Publications to refine the data collection procedures between the two-region merger regulations (Damro & Guay, 2012).

Some Asian countries like India have enacted laws to regulate mergers and acquisitions. For example, the Indian Company Act (ICA), the Monopoly and Restrictive Trade Practices Act (MRTPA), and specific sector legislation governed mergers and acquisitions (Shroff & Ambast, 2013). However, after June 2011, S5 and S6 of the Competition Act and the Combination Regulations of 2011 replaced the MRTPA. The rationale was to control mergers and acquisitions that cause adverse competition. Shroff and Ambast (2013) argued that gaps exist in the law regarding interpretations, thus increasing the difficulty of achieving its aim. From the literature, the introduction of rules and regulations impacts the success or failure of mergers or acquisitions in the

respective countries. The extent of the impact will depend on whether the merger or acquisition objective is to create an oligopoly, monopoly, or conglomerate. The responsibility is on the leaders to know the existence of merger controls in any mergers and acquisitions decisions. Mishra (2019) suggested the relooked of laws and policies because it is the cause of some mergers and acquisitions failures.

Merger and Acquisition Performance

Studies show that the mergers and acquisitions phenomenon does not create value despite the growth in investment globally. Reddy et al. (2019) suggested that mergers and acquisitions failed to achieve the desired objectives. According to Renneboog and Vansteenkiste (2019), post-merger performance is affected by management arrogance and politicking. Liu et al. (2019) examined 86 cross-border mergers and acquisitions between 2007 and 2012 using five years before and after the merger dates. The result shows that mergers and acquisitions fail to achieve the desired result. Liu et al. (2019) attributed infrastructure differences within the countries, labor costs, and technological differences in the host countries as the cause of poor performance in cross border mergers and acquisitions. Zhao et al. (2019) examined the relationship between the size of the acquirer and announcement returns and long-term performance in China and whether political consideration plays a role in the success of mergers and acquisitions. Zhao et al. (2019) used 437 mergers and acquisitions transactions that occurred between 2003 and 2014. Zhao et al. (2019) concluded that smaller firms perform better than bigger size firms in the long run. Nkiwane and Chipeta (2019) posited that firms' financial performance decrease after mergers and acquisitions.

Similarly, a survey by JP Morgan 2018 indicates that cross-border mergers and acquisitions constituted 30% of the total volume of global mergers and acquisitions (Morgan, 2019). However, according to researchers, over 50% of the deals fail to deliver the expected return on investment (Liu et al., 2019; Renneboog & Vansteenkiste, 2019), destroy shareholders' value (Shah & Butt, 2019), and not even when government promotes the event will it achieve success (Tampakoudis et al., 2020). The objective of mergers or acquisitions is to create value for stakeholders; however, most mergers and acquisitions fail this objective (Aggarwal & Garg, 2022; Fotova Čiković Fotova et al., 2022; Gonzalez-Torres et al., 2020; Olcay et al., 2019). Olcay et al. (2019) argued that mergers and acquisitions are on a crescendo with a total aggregate of trillions of USD despite the poor performance. Before purchasing, leaders need to undertake due diligence to mitigate the negative impact on the acquisition performance (Wang et al., 2020).

Despite the available literature supporting mergers and acquisition failures, other studies support the success of the mergers and acquisitions phenomenon. Cui and Leung (2020) used data from U. S. A. between 2000 and 2012. Cui and Leng (2020) concluded that firms with better managerial ability achieve better performance in mergers and acquisitions in the long run, especially when the acquisition is horizontal. Similar studies suggest that mergers and acquisitions have positively impacted the performance of financial institutions in Nigeria (Boloupremo & Ogege, 2019). Available literature concludes the phenomenon creates positive gains for investors, especially in the long term (Aljadani & Toumi, 2019; Roa & Mishra, 2020; Teti & Tului, 2020). Majeed and Kureshi (2019) argued that few mergers and acquisitions gain success because of the

change in the culture, management, and technology that positively affects employees' motivation. However, the failure rate of investment in mergers and acquisitions continues to be high hence the call for appropriate leadership skills to execute the mergers and acquisition transaction.

Causes of Merger and Acquisition Failures

The causes of mergers and acquisitions failure have been a mix. Haspeslagh and Jemison (1991) suggested some of the primary reasons for the high failure rate in mergers and acquisitions as (a) a high premium paid by the acquiring company, (b) leaders' inability to integrate the corporate cultures of the two organizations successfully, and (c) inadequate due diligence. Haspeslagh and Jemison outlined some of the long-term causes of failure as (a) employee integration, (b) job uncertainty, and (c) income security.

Mergers and acquisitions are a complex phenomenon that needs unique understanding and skills to manage the process; therefore, the inability of the leaders to integrate the entire process fails (Cui & Leung, 2020; Haspeslagh & Jemison, 1991; Sarala et al., 2019). The importance of the integration process is to address possible job strain, employee absenteeism, increased employee resignation, and lack of job satisfaction (Cui & Leung, 2020; Sarala et al., 2019). A better understanding of the mergers and acquisition process and the right leadership skills may reduce the failure rate.

Leadership skills are critical in sustaining the post-mergers and acquisitions process (Edi & Iravanti, 2019). The inability of management to have the requisite skills to combine human and physical resources to achieve the intended synergy benefit result in M&A failure (Cui & Leung, 2020; Sarala et al., 2019). An organization with good

leadership may sustain mergers and acquisitions into profitability because mergers and acquisitions involve complex processes and vigorous integration of two or more organizations.

Mergers and acquisitions failures extended beyond the integration process and leadership skills. For instance, the literature suggested over-bidding pricing, the business leader's inability to harmonize revenue, and cost synergies as significant causes of mergers and acquisitions failure (Aggarwal & Garg, 2022; Borodin et al., 2020; Haspeslagh & Jemison, 1991). In determining the bidding price, decision-makers can get caught up in a bidding war (Haspeslagh & Jemison, 1991). When leaders pay the correct bid price, the acquisition might succeed (Borodin et al., 2020). To ensure good judgment in the bidding price in mergers and acquisitions, Agarwal and Kwan (2017) suggested that decision-makers should focus on the strategic states of the acquiring company and decide whether the move to acquire is strategic rather than ego to ensure value for the acquired shareholders. Gisella and Chalid (2017) used 143 mergers and acquisitions of public data companies between 2005 and 2014 to determine the effect of biding price and the success of mergers and acquisition. The researchers concluded that the method of payment and inherent condition of the acquired company affected the abnormal performance of the mergers and acquisitions (Gisella & Chalid, 2017; Tanna et al., 2019). Quality leadership skills and ability is critical to the success of a merger and acquisition and improves the attractiveness of the investment

The nature of the companies involved in the merger or acquisition may also affect the performance. According to Olcay et al. (2019) similar size of the two companies,

different country environments, and relatedness can impact on mergers and acquisitions. Therefore, a well-thought-out and carefully executed integration might yield mergers and acquisition success (Sachsenmaier & Guo, 2019). Many mergers and acquisitions fail due to the inability of the leaders to integrate the acquirer and the target firm successfully (Khan et al., 2020). The ability of leaders to use leadership competencies and style may enable them to integrate mergers and acquisitions successfully and improve outcomes.

Merger and Acquisition Integration

For a merger or acquisition to be complete, the managers of the companies must put together a process called integration. The integration process is the most critical and complex function in mergers and acquisitions but is difficult for business leaders to accomplish (Haspeslagh & Jemison, 1991). Most practitioners focused on transactional planning strategy and the final transaction value, thus leaving the integration process that unfolds after the closure of the transaction (Voth, 2020). When leaders start mergers and acquisitions with a clear vision, they might achieve a seamless integration process (Voth, 2020). Haspeslagh and Jemison (1991) suggested that the transaction should create value for the acquirer and target firm to benefit from integration. Still, leaders neglect the importance of the uncertainties and complexities associated with the integration process (Haspeslagh & Jemison, 1991). The absence of leadership skills may be the cause of the integration failure and failed mergers and acquisitions.

Haspeslagh and Jemison (1991) identified two methods of mergers and acquisitions available for managers in the integration process. According to Haspeslagh and Jemison (1991), a merger and acquisition can be for (a) preservation, (b) absorption,

and (c) symbiosis. The preservation method is where the acquired company can preserve its culture. Therefore, integration is shallow, and absorption is where the acquired company becomes fully integrated into the new structure (Haspeslagh & Jemison, 1991). Symbiosis allows for mutual changes in each of the organizational structures (Haspeslagh & Jemison, 1991). In addition to human and task integration, successful mergers and acquisitions are how leaders can put together two cultures from different organizations to ensure positive outcomes (Haspeslagh & Jemison, 1991; Voth, 2020).

Voth (2020) outlined five factors practitioners can combine to achieve postmerger and acquisition integration success and deliver improved shareholder returns. The
factors are strategy, adoptive engaged leadership, comprehensive communication,
mastering cultural integration, and speed of the integration (Voth, 2020). The focus of
mergers and acquisitions practitioners has been the achievement of quick profit or
shareholders' return rather than a strategic approach that looks at the long-term path
toward broader organizational goals (Voth, 2020). Successful mergers and acquisitions
begin with a well-thought-through integration process. The inability of leaders to
effectively migrate the acquirer's culture into the new entity may result in mergers and
acquisition failure therefore, leaders must acknowledge the importance of the integration
process.

Mergers and acquisitions are the most preferred strategies for emerging multinational companies when they are going abroad. Researchers support the view mergers and acquisitions are a strategic vehicle to achieve business growth and competitive advantage (Febriani & Yancey, 2019). According to Febriani and Yancey

(2019), despite the increase in the mergers and acquisition phenomenon, the success rate is low due to problems leaders go through in the integration process. Leaders can overcome institutional discrepancies by developing leadership capabilities for integration and employing tools for control during the integration process.

There are no single approaches to successful integration in mergers or acquisitions. The major hurdle confronting successful mergers or acquisitions is differences in participant firms, especially when leaders hurry through the post-merger integration process (Oh & Johnston, 2020). Research shows that a slower integration reduces conflicts between merger partners, improves trust-building, and disrupts existing resources and processes in both firms, which might benefit mergers and acquisitions (Oh & Johnston, 2020). A quick integration that shortens the integration process may prevent the combined entity from achieving the expected synergy at the post-acquisition stage (Cheng, 2019; Oh & Johnston, 2020). Cheng (2019) examined the effect of culture in the post-merger integration duration on an acquiring firm before and after a merger. The study concluded that leaders should not rush through the integration because merging two firms takes time to complete (Cheng, 2019). When leaders adopt the right skills to examine a merger or acquisition process, the phenomenon may yield positive results.

Studies postulated that there are three phases of the merger and acquisition process; (a) pre-acquisition involving the announcement and integration planning, (b) early post-acquisition, that is, a drop in demand and crisis management, and (c) post-acquisition integration (Haspeslagh & Jemison, 1991; Rouzies et al., 2019). Other mechanisms like coordination, cohesion, disconnection, and alienation can hinder the

integration process and affect a good merger and acquisition success (Rouzies et al., 2019). Hence leaders must pay attention in the process of merging two companies to achieve synergy post-acquisition.

The integration process cuts across the entire merger and acquisition process spectrum, whether within the target company, the acquirer's existing business, or a new business unit (Haspeslagh & Jemison, 1991; Oh & Johnston, 2020). Integrating two companies can occur immediately after the acquisition or gradually over a period, but the aim is to combine resources and skills for the combined company to achieve synergy (Bodner & Capron, 2018; Oh & Johnston, 2020). Similarly, post-merger integration is an essential tool for firms to combine their resources, product lines, and business units to meet the needs of the new environment (Bodner & Capron, 2018). When leaders manage the integration process well, mergers or acquisitions provide a basis for business growth and survival (Bodner & Capron, 2018). To achieve successful integration post-merger or acquisition, Rodriguez-Sanchez et al. (2020) identified four main elements that leaders must consider at the planning stage. The four elements are the due diligence process, the integration plan, the communication plan, and the learning plan (Rodriguez-Sanchez et al. (2020). The style of the leaders enables them to galvanize the available resources to achieve successful integration.

Mergers and acquisitions have been characterized by integration complexities, especially if the merger or acquisition is cross-border (Al Hosani et al., 2020; Rozen-Baker, 2018; Voth, 2020). Rozen-Baker (2018) examined 68 public firms engaged in cross-border mergers and acquisitions from 13 countries to determine whether pre-

mergers or acquisition performance could predict integration success. The results show that a more significant target leads to a complicated integration process that fails at the integration stage, whilst a smaller target decreases the risks of the integration process (Rozen-Baker, 2018). Business leaders who are trained in the use of appropriate leadership styles may sustain mergers and acquisition processes into profitability because of mergers and acquisitions integration complexities. Leaders with the right leadership style can combine human and physical resources to achieve a synergy that may result in success in mergers and acquisitions (Cui & Leung, 2020; Sarala et al., 2019).

In mergers and acquisitions, leaders consider combining resources that are either similar or complementary in both organizations. Li et al. (2019) suggested that the acquirer must use the right post-merger integration strategy. The increasing number of mergers and acquisitions has emphasized the importance of post-merger and acquisition integration in harmonizing the processes of the two organizations (Schonreiter, 2019). Therefore, the leader must understand the importance of harmonizing the human resource, culture, and technology of the two organizations to achieve mergers and acquisition success.

Human Resource Integration

Human resource management is a critical factor in the success or failure of the merger and acquisition process. As companies face challenging environments due to globalization, talent management becomes a problematic element in human resource management during mergers and acquisitions (Rao-Nicholson et al., 2020). Despite the importance of human resources in mergers and acquisitions, leaders consider them only

at the integration stage (Rodriguez-Sanchez et al., 2020). Thus, they face difficulties in managing talent acquired during the merger or acquisition. The retention strategy must be a focal point in mergers and acquisition implementation during post-acquisition integration (Beraud et al., 2020). Rodriguez-Sanchez et al. (2020) proposed a human resource model for leaders to consider at the integration stage to include leadership and integration teams, change and restructuring process, human resource resistance, and valuable human resource retention. The success or failure of mergers or acquisitions will depend on the leader's ability to consider organizational learning, knowledge integration, technological capabilities, and technology-relatedness at the planning stage (Dhir et al., 2019). A firm's post-merger or acquisition success will depend on whether leaders have carefully planned the integration process.

Mergers and acquisitions have an impact on employees and human resource management. Human resource challenges associated with mergers and acquisitions emanate from inferior communication, cross-cultural management, and leadership (Cooke et al., 2020). These challenges create employees' mistrust, workforce resilience, and lack of attention, especially post-acquisition (Cooke et al., 2020), which produces high employee turnover rates during mergers and acquisitions, especially for employees of the acquired firm (Addai et al., 2022). Leaders must understand the psychology of employee-related issues to enable them to retain them during mergers and acquisitions (Degbey et al., 2020). The management of employees, successful communication, and understanding of the effect of change and its impact on employee trust are critical to

successful mergers and acquisitions (Bansal & King, 2022; Cooke et al., 2020), especially from the inception (Bansal, 2020).

Human resource integration challenges in mergers and acquisitions involve national and organizational cultures, political constraints, and movements of key personnel across the two organizations. Combining these challenges makes the integration more complex and requires extra managerial attention (Chang-Howe, 2019; Rao-Nicholson et al., 2020). The role of the leader is to define the outcome of the business interactions and recognize human capital as a primary asset in any mergers and acquisition transactions. The retention of critical human resources in the post-merger period may impact the success of the merger or acquisition (Chang-Howe, 2019). In mergers and acquisitions, it is possible for the employees of the acquired company to feel isolated. However, organizational justice, employee commitment, organizational trust, perceived effectiveness of human resources, and employee communication strategy during the post-merger integration process mitigate the extent of the isolation (Al Hosani et al., 2020).

One of the reasons for mergers and acquisitions is to take advantage of some specialized skills in the acquired organization to create value for the new company. However, studies show that most mergers and acquisitions do not generate value because leaders cannot transfer the knowledge they intended to acquire due to integration difficulties critical in the mergers and acquisitions process (Dhir et al., 2019; Rodriguez-Sanchez et al., 2020). In most cases, most of the targeted skills exit the organization before the leaders complete the merger or acquisition due to an inadequate strategy

(Beraud et al., 2020). To mitigate the exit rate, Rodriguez-Sanchez et al. (2020) proposed three stages of knowledge transfer in mergers and acquisitions that leaders should not ignore at the implementation stage; the pre-merger stage, the transfer knowledge stage, and integrated knowledge in the post-merger stage.

Mergers and acquisitions may cause employee disaffection during and after the integration, affecting employee performance. To mitigate against alienation in the integrated organization, Al Hosani et al. (2020) suggested that leaders must ensure the presence of organizational justice, employee commitment, organizational trust, perceived effectiveness of human resources initiatives, and employee communication during and post-merger. These elements help the organization build trust among employees in mergers and acquisitions to reduce employees' laxity (Al Hosani et al., 2020).

Sachsenmaier and Guo (2019) explored trust development in the cross-cultural integration process in an emerging country firms' acquisition in an advanced economy.

Sachsenmaier and Guo (2019) concluded that the factors that foster trust development are economic and emotional factors, including mutual understanding, reliability, familiarity, and emotional bonding. The inspirational motivation characteristic skills of the transformational leader may mitigate employees' alienation post-merger and acquisition integration.

Mergers and acquisitions create employee anxiety and mistrust during the integration stage. Consequently, during the integration process, employees become emotional, generating mixed feelings because of job insecurity (Bansal, 2020). The apprehension and job insecurity result in employee resistance to the merger and

acquisition process leading to adverse outcomes (Khan et al., 2020). Leaders with transformational leadership skills are to understand the use of a reward system to contribute to the success or failure of the new organization (Khan et al., 2020; Sanchez & Criado, 2019), to gain employee commitment and satisfaction in the full mergers and acquisition outcome (Bansal, 2020; Hassan & Lukman, 2020). Management's ability to handle employee responses may address employee perception of fairness and justice for the merged organization (Bansal, 2020). Lack of individual consideration and idealized influence skills of managers of mergers and acquisitions leads to the leader's inability to manage personal anxiety, low morale, and apprehension, causing low productivity. Therefore, the process will be successful when the management explores the right leadership skills to support the implementation of mergers and acquisitions.

Cultural Integration

Companies operate with values, which, over time, translate into organizational culture and belief. Cultural integration by leaders becomes essential for the success of the merger and acquisition. Studies attest to the importance of cultural integration in mergers and acquisitions (Liu et al., 2019; Samal et al., 2019). While some employees are ready to change during the integration, others show resistance and apathy in fussing the two cultures (Liu et al., 2019; Samal et al., 2019). Cheng (2019) suggested that cultural clashes and work disruption in mergers and acquisitions lead to a decline in employee satisfaction and a loss in performance. Majeed and Kureshi (2019) intimated that cultural clashes affect the acquirer's employees' motivation. According to Cheng (2019), a slow integration process affords the leader time to reduce the risk associated with cultural

differences due to the merger or acquisition. Similarly, the ability of leaders to manage cultural change may impact the success of the acquisition (Majeed & Kureshi, 2019).

Febriani and Yancey (2019) observed that, despite all the changes that occur during the integration stage of mergers and acquisitions, challenges bordering on human resources featured, including challenges in integrating the cultures of the acquirer and the acquired. Cultural integration may negatively impact the employee if leaders fail to smoothen the gap between the two companies (Febriani & Yancey, 2019). Even though the transformational approach may be considered the appropriate integration approach, Febriani and Yancey (2019) believed that mergers and acquisition practitioners should be careful because the transformational process can lower employee attitudes.

In planning, the leaders must carefully consider the appropriate integration approach to avoid the potential conflict between the two cultures (Febriani & Yancey, 2019; Voth, 2020). For the mergers and acquisitions process to be successful, leaders must consider the following at the planning stage: (a) organizational cultural assessment at the beginning of a merger or acquisition, (b) leaders identify and address the emotional impact that will arise as a result of the changes, (c) prioritize human resource initiatives concerning employee advocacy, (d) internal communication must be clear, transparent and continuous, (e) fairness of decision for all groups of employees, (f) provide opportunities for competencies, and (g) the project must be realistic considering the resources and capabilities available (Febriani & Yancey, 2019). Before the closure of the merger or acquisition transaction, the leader must identify the organizational culture of the target firm and look for the best cultural fit between the two companies (Voth, 2020).

Leaders must access and improve their knowledge and skills to handle the cultural challenges of mergers and acquisitions.

The transfer of knowledge plays an essential role in the success or failure of mergers and acquisitions. However, to achieve a seamless transfer of knowledge, Bansal (2020) suggested that there should be effective management by leaders to ensure employee retention. According to Bansal (2020), leaders must consider in the planning process the impact of knowledge transfer on the merger or acquisition success and provide the necessary support and resources for smooth knowledge transfer. Second, management should consider employee retention in the acquiring firm to sustain knowledge transfer and improve acquisition success. Since cultural unity is essential to employee retention, leaders must prioritize the onset of the merger or acquisition integration process.

Summary

As strategic growth initiatives, the number of mergers and acquisitions deals will continue to increase. Practitioners should develop leadership skills with the ability to implement the mergers and acquisitions transactions to improve the realization of postmerger and acquisition performance expectations (see Renneboog & Vansteenkiste, 2019). A successful post mergers and acquisitions performance will mean leaders should consider human resource integration, the merger or acquisition value, cultural integration, communication planning from the onset, and leadership involvement from the beginning of the transaction (see Cheng, 2019; Oh & Johnston, 2020; Teti & Tului, 2020; Vanwalleghem et al., 2020).

Transition

In Section 1 of the study, the goal was to offer a comprehensive literature review grouped under main themes. Included was the introduction to the foundation of the study addressing the problem and purpose statement, research question, conceptual framework, and significance of the study. Furthermore, in Section 1, the focus was on exploring the leadership skills needed to implement mergers and acquisitions in Ghana.

Section 2 will focus on the role of the researcher, the qualitative research method, the case study design, the population, the sample size of the study, ethical research, viability, reliability, data collection process, analysis, and organization techniques. In Section 3, the purpose will be to present findings from the research, application to professional practice, and implications for social change. The section further covers recommendations for action and further study.

Section 2: The Project

In Section 2, I provide a detailed project review for this single qualitative case study to explore leadership skills some banking leaders use to implement mergers and acquisitions. I incorporate discussions about the role of the researcher, the participants, the research method and design, and ethical considerations. I further discuss the arrangement of the study design with existing qualitative case study methods. Finally, I describe the data collection method, analyzed method, research reliability, and validity to complete the section.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore leadership skills used by some banking leaders to implement mergers and acquisitions successfully. In this study, I used semistructured interviews with eight banking executives in Accra, Ghana. The population consisted of general managers, group managers, department heads, and branch managers employed before, during, and after a financial institution's merger. This study's results may affect positive social change by creating new job prospects, sustaining employment, and enhancing the economy for the community, customers, and other stakeholders.

Role of the Researcher

In qualitative research, the researcher is the principal means of data collection (Denzin & Lincoln, 2011), and the aim is to seek participants' consent to collect reliable data while protecting them (Yin, 2018). In this study, I acted as a principal means of data collection. I have worked in the banking industry for over 25 years and have

participated in a similar acquisition process in the management role of a target company. In this study, I was the primary source of data collection, transcription, and analysis. To avoid bias based on my previous role and experience, I followed the same procedure for each interview by asking each participant the same questions in the same order (see Yin, 2018). For this study, the selection included participants from other departments where I had no relationship with the participants. I used member checking to employ the participant to validate the interview transcription (see Berger, 2015; Marshall & Rossman, 2016).

As a researcher, I was responsible for the ethical treatment of all selected participants to ensure their privacy, confidentiality, and protection of the company and participants (Denzin & Lincoln, 2011; Rashid et al., 2019; Slettebo, 2020). According to Yin (2018), the researcher must (a) provide informed consent for every participant, (b) protect participants from harm, (c) protect participants' privacy and confidentiality, (d) protect vulnerable groups, and select participants fairly. The United States Government and the International Community have issued guidelines outlined in the *Belmont Report* (1979). The *Belmont Report* includes guidance on (a) respect for persons, (b) beneficence, and (c) justice (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979). Respect for participants includes respecting their ability to make independent decisions (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979).

Beneficence demands that researchers follow the approved research protocols throughout the study process (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of

Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979). Justice requires the fair, moral selection and treatment of participants in the study (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979).

Participants

In this study, I used a sample size of eight participants from a bank in Ghana that went through an acquisition. The sample size meets the needs of this study because banking is a specialized industry and, therefore, requires participants with the requisite skills, experience, and knowledge to respond to the research questions. In qualitative research, what matters is the concept of saturation (Alam, 2021; Braun & Clarke, 2021; Guest et al., 2020). In the opinion of Alam (2021), a sample size of five to 30 meets the needs for qualitative research. To qualify as a participant in this study, the person should have been in employment before, during, and after the acquisition. The participants were in management positions comprising one of the following: general manager, group head, department head, and branch manager. The management staff played a significant role at every stage of the acquisition process and, therefore, had the experience to contribute to the study.

Carefully selected individuals received telephone and email where possible. After the initial contact, I sent the participants letters detailing the study's objective and assured the participant protection of their identity (see Appendix A). Yin (2018) noted the importance of researchers in protecting the participants in a case study. Using the letter, I sought individual formal consent to participate in the interview and informed participants that the interview was voluntary. A member who did not respond to the interview letter

received a follow-up through an email or telephone call. After the follow-up, the participant refused to return; the researcher removed the person's name from the group.

In the study, I used a face-to-face semistructured interview to collect data from the participants, and each interview took between 45 minutes and 90 minutes (Dai et al., 2019). I used Zoom to cater to participants who were out of the country or within reach. Lobe et al. (2020) advocated that Skype or Zoom has the advantage of reaching the member face-to-face when the researcher cannot gain access to the participant because of distance, pandemic, or inclement weather. Phone use was not an option for this study because the telephone is not reliable in Ghana. The study involved recording the interviews using a Sony tape recorder with the member's written consent and transcribed. I protected the identity of all the members by not disclosing their names, company names, and locations. To ensure the protection of the rights of the participants, I did not include duplication of any document or data collected. I scanned the documents to an external hard drive and will keep the hard drive in a locked fireproof safe under control for 5 years.

Research Method and Design

Three different methods exist for research studies: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods. In a qualitative research method, the researcher focuses on existing phenomena in a lived situation (Gioia, 2021; Yin, 2018). A researcher explores an existing complex problem not easily understood without inquiry in a single qualitative case study, using participants and time (Morgan, 2022; Yin, 2018). In this study, I used a

qualitative single case study to explore leadership skills needed to implement mergers and acquisitions in Ghana.

Research Method

The three research methods are qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods. I used the qualitative research method for this study. In qualitative research, the researcher uses an exact method of sampling data collection, analysis, and interpretation within the context of scientific inquiry (Aspers & Corte, 2019; Lester et al., 2020; Levitt et al., 2021). According to Levitt et al. (2021), in the qualitative method, the researcher builds theory. The qualitative approach presents a thorough and systematic understanding of social dynamics and offers additional probes into themes to enhance the experience of a phenomenon (Aspers & Corte, 2019; Lester et al., 2020; Tracy, 2019;). The use of the qualitative method assists me in working within natural settings and draws on methods that respect the participants of a study (Denzin & Lincoln, 2011; Yin, 2018).

In qualitative research I explored the research question and brought out what the individuals and the group experienced and observed over time (see Morgan, 2022). Therefore, the goal is to know how that happened with a qualitative method that uses theories to explain behavior and not statistics to establish a relationship between events (Levitt et al., 2021; Morgan, 2022). A qualitative design has five general hallmarks: (a) occurs in a naturalistic setting, (b) draws on multiple methods that represent the humanity of the participants in a study, (c) focuses on context, (d) continues to emerge and evolve, and (e) fundamentally includes interpretive settings (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Mergers and acquisitions affect the culture and perception of employees in the new

organization. Researchers suggest that the qualitative approach enhances leaders' and academicians' academic knowledge and organizational settings (Levitt et al., 2021).

The flexibility of the qualitative method is to allow researchers to incorporate in a study critical and unpredicted happenings and findings; to provide data collection in words, images, and observations that ensure thorough and detailed descriptions of complex behavior, processes, relationships, settings, and systems (Aspers & Corte, 2019). Qualitative research includes exploring the meaning humans assign to the phenomenon (Marshall & Rossman, 2016) and individual lived experiences (Aspers & Corte, 2019).

The quantitative method was not suitable for this study because researchers use quantitative methods to test theories through numbers (see Cortina, 2020). In the quantitative method, researchers use prepared instruments to answer many research questions (Burkholder et al., 2020; Johnston et al., 2020; Kuehn & Rohlfing, 2022). I could not use statistical numbers to explain the leadership skills needed by banking leaders to implement mergers and acquisitions. The study is about their lived experiences; therefore, a quantitative design was not be appropriate. The mixed method includes both the quantitative and qualitative data collection techniques (Dawadi et al., 202q; Palinkas et al., 2019; Stoecker & Avila, 2021). However, I could not use both quantitative and qualitative methods to explore a phenomenon because the study had no hypothesis to test and would not give reliable results.

Research Design

There are five research designs in the qualitative method. The designs are case study, ethnography, grounded theory, phenomenological, and narrative (Morgan, 2022;

Yin, 2018). In this study, I used a qualitative single case study design. Case study research can happen in three situations; (a) understanding the *how* and *why*, (b) understanding real-world context, and (c) evaluating the data results (Bhatta, 2018; Rashid et al., 2019; Yin, 2018). Denzin and Lincoln (2011) believed that case studies should focus on units bounded with time. A detailed investigation of a single case study is essential to explore the leadership skills needed to improve mergers and acquisitions success and a complete examination of one organization to obtain a professional opinion of the phenomenon (Yin, 2018). A single case study was suitable because I used the design to provide perceptive experiences of leaders, reveal leadership skills, and ways to help improve the likelihood of success of mergers and acquisitions.

According to Yin (2018), a researcher will use a case study to understand the real-life experience of individuals or groups. In a case study a researcher can obtain a multiplicity of data from various techniques to help broaden the knowledge of best practice skills required for mergers and acquisitions implementations (see Bhatta, 2018; Rashid et al., 2019; Thomas, 2021). In this study, I used the staff of a bank with experience in merger syndrome.

In phenomenology design, the researcher focuses on the individual's understanding of their lived experience by investigating the person's meaning attached to that experience (Neubauer et al., 2019; Williams, 2021). I did not use phenomenology design because the focus of the study was on the impact of a process on an organization instead of the individual experience of a phenomenon (Neubauer et al., 2019; Williams, 2021).

Ethnography design includes examining a shared pattern of behavior, belief, and language within a cultural group or community setting (Haven & Grootel, 2019; Koskull, 2020). In ethnography, the researcher explores those under investigation's day-to-day social lives or culture (Ploder & Hamann, 2021). This study was not about the pattern of I did not use the narrative because it was not about telling a past event or individuals sharing their lived experiences (Andrews, 2021; Gang, 2022; Surangi, 2022).

Population and Sampling

The population for the study was a purposive sampling of eight participants selected from a universal bank in Ghana with experience as part of a merger phenomenon. Studies include the recommendation of purposive sampling when the group is identical in attitude, experience, sound knowledge regarding the research topic, and views to represent the entire population (Hennink & Kaiser, 2022; Levitt, 2021; Yin, 2018). Hennink and Kaiser (2022) identified four approaches that determine sample size in qualitative research. These are (a) rules of thumb, based on a combination of methodological considerations and experience; (b) conceptual models, based upon specific characteristics of the proposed study; (c) numerical guidelines derived from the empirical investigation; and (d) statistical formulae, based on the probability of obtaining a sufficient sample size (Alam, 2021). Alam (2021) supported a single case study of five to 30 as an ideal number for interview participants in the qualitative case study research approach.

The population sample of this study is based on expediency and availability (see Hennink & Kaiser, 2022). The sample size is not a fixed number but depends on what the researcher wants to explore and the resource available for the study (Alam, 2021; Hennink & Kaiser, 2022). To be eligible for this study, the participant should have lived experiences and appropriate knowledge; be in employment before, during, and after the acquisition at a senior management position; and willingness to be part of the population to give the experiences acquired in the merger and acquisition process (see Levitt, 2021).

The interview is one of the most critical and traditional data collection methods in the qualitative method (Dai et al., 2019; Husband, 2020; Yin, 2018). I used semistructured face-to-face interviews to collect data from the participants for this case study (see Dai et al., 2019; Gravlee et al., 2018; Husband, 2020). The interview was a guided conversation to ensure a fluid flow of information (Yin, 2018). Dai et al. (2019) suggested that researchers use an interview to collect data to understand opinions, attitudes, experiences, processes, behavior, or predictions.

Ethical Research

The experience and engagement with participants often establish ethical and personal issues in the research process (Rashid et al., 2019; Slettebo, 2020). The researcher must ensure that the participants are fully aware of their participation and role in the study (Ngozwana, 2018; Rashid et al., 2019). Rashid et al. (2019) suggested that the researcher must protect the privacy and confidentiality of the firm and individuals during and after the research. The researcher needs to obtain the participants' consent by giving them consent forms to complete (Ngozwana, 2018; Rashid et al., 2019).

The consent form contains detailed information about the participants' work to make an educated choice to participate in the research. After, the goal was to assure the

participant about the confidentiality of information and data provided for the study. Furthermore, all recordings and documents are stored on the USB drive, and I will lock them in a fireproof cabinet for five years. The cabinet will only be accessible to me. I will destroy the data after five years. I conducted each interview on different dates, according to the schedule of the participants, digitally recorded the conversation, and labeled each file with a code. After delivering the consent form, I informed the participant verbally that their participation in the study was voluntary. Participants could withdraw from the study at any stage of the process without recourse to the participant as per the consent form (see Appendix B). Communication to the participants was included that the study was voluntary and devoided any identifiable risk associated with participating in the study. The participants of the study were not compensated or received payment of benefits from the study.

My responsibility was to protect the participants' dignity, integrity, privacy, and confidentiality (Ngozwana, 2018; Rashid et al., 2019). I have completed the National Institutes of Health (NIH) certification to show proficiency in ethical research (Appendix D). Before starting this study, I sought the Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval (IRB approval number 04-07-22-0324022). After approval, participants received a consent form (see Slettebo, 2020) via email for review and signature (see Appendix B).

Data Collection Instruments

The researcher is the primary instrument in data collection in qualitative studies (Barrett & Twycross, 2018; Lester et al., 2020). The most commonly used data collection

methods in qualitative research are participant observation, interviews, and focus group discussions (Alam, 2021; Yin, 2018). In this qualitative single case study, I was the primary data collection instrument. I gained access to the financial institution through my previous engagement with the bank. The potential participants identified by me received an informed consent letter before scheduling the interview.

In qualitative research, the researcher uses the interview to collect data from participants regarding a particular event. The interviewer tailors the interview to the research question and the characteristics of the participants (see Barrett & Twycross, 2018; Yin, 2018). I conducted a semistructured interview using predefined, open-ended interview questions in an isolated venue. A private venue helped to eliminate disturbances and noise, more importantly, when the interviews were online following the COVID-19 pandemic (Lobe et al., 2020). The use of open-ended questions allowed the participants to share their lived experiences and understanding of the phenomenon (Barrett & Twycross, 2018). I collected some of the data face-to-face and through Zoom, where there were geographical barriers, and in the advent of COVID-19 and the need to maintain social distancing (see Archibald et al., 2019; Barrett & Twycross, 2018; Lobe et al., 2020). Lobe et al. (2020) advocated for video conferencing and telephone as against face-to-face interviews. I sought each participant's preference before interviewing to give the participant assurance of privacy.

I measured the data collected based on the information on the interpretation of the experiences and views of the participants. I took notes during the interview to summarize the information provided by members. Following the interview process, I used transcripts

and notes to prepare the research. I transcribed the data provided by the interviewees and sent a summary to the participant for confirmation of the accuracy, completeness, and correctness of the information gathered from each participant. I employed the data interpretation method and the coding process. Only I will lock the information in a fireproof cabinet accessible for five years.

A qualitative method often comprises a small population size, typically creating generalization concerns (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). However, a researcher can generalize a qualitative result where the sample size covers a fair representation of the population under investigation (Hays & McKibben, 2021; Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Maxwell, 2021). The selection of participants with diverse backgrounds and perspectives from different departments in both the acquired and acquirer ensured the generalization of the results and provided external validity to the study (Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Slettebo, 2020).

In data triangulation, the researcher uses multiple data sources to enhance a study's reliability (Fusch et al., 2018; Jentoft & Olsen, 2019; Renz et al., 2018).

According to Renz et al. (2018), triangulation involves using multiple external data collection methods regarding the same phenomenon to confirm the data collected. Yin (2018) suggested the use of multiple sources of evidence to ensure data validity. The use of multiple data sources allows the researcher to confirm the result of the study (Skaaning, 2018). For data triangulation, I reviewed the institution's internal documents, including 3 years of annual reports, website information, and publicly available records, including articles and press releases, to add validation to the study.

Data Collection Technique

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore transformational leadership skills needed to implement mergers and acquisitions in Ghana to guarantee shareholders' return on investment postmerger or acquisition. The six primary case study sources outlined by Yin (2018) are documents, interviews, archival records, direct observations, participant observation, and physical artifacts. Researchers use interviews to collect rich data regarding a particular event from a participant in a case study (Fusch et al., 2018; Oliveira & Figueira, 2018). According to Yin (2018), gathering evidence sources from participants' lived experiences through interviews is the most important case study. In this study, I used predefined open-ended questions.

Semistructured interview techniques enabled the participants to disclose their knowledge, in-depth information, and real-life experiences concerning the research topic (Alam, 2021; Barrett & Twycross, 2018; Yin, 2018). In this study, I developed an interview protocol to create uniformity in the interview process (Yeong et al., 2018). The purpose of the interview protocol is to ensure that the researcher has secured the necessary research approval procedures before recruiting potential study participants. The required approval protocols for this qualitative single case study were approved by the Walden University IRB, providing a consent letter to the participant to partake in the interview, receiving consent from each participant, and a letter to the organization to use some of its materials for the research.

I conducted face-to-face interviews and remotely through Zoom in line with the existing COVID-19 protocol (see Lobe et al., 2020). I assured the participants' privacy

under the social distance protocol arrangement and recorded the interview with the interviewees' consent. Recording the interview allowed me to listen attentively to the interviewee during the interview conference rather than document the interview by hand. Yin (2018) suggested that recording interviews provide an accurate record of each interview. I recorded each interview using a Sony audio recorder and transferred the recorded data to an Apple MacBook, which was later transcribed. I followed the interview protocol throughout the interview process and conducted semistructured interviews using Zoom and face-to-face to the interviewee's choice. The interview questions were open-ended and predefined. The researcher asked follow-up questions to get clarity where necessary. I used a similar protocol by Yeong et al. (2018).

After the interview, I sought assistance transcribing the data using Microsoft Word. An interview transcript constitutes a significant data source for research (Alam, 2021; Lester et al., 2020). To familiarize myself with the data, I read and reread the transcript carefully to understand the research question. I used member checking with each participant to increase the data's validity, credibility, and trustworthiness. The importance of member checking is to increase the reliability and credibility of the research by allowing the participant to validate the transcribed data (Iivari, 2018; Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The participant received the transcribed summary of each interview question through their email.

Data Organization Technique

I used semistructured interviews with transcribed recorded interview data and analysis in this single case study. A recorded interview session assists the researcher in

accurately transcribing the proceedings (Takahashi & Araujo, 2020; Yin, 2018).

Researchers have an ethical responsibility to guarantee participants' privacy,
confidentiality, and protection (Ngozwana, 2018; Shafi, 2020; Talbert, 2018; Yin, 2018).

According to researchers, using codes to disguise interviewees is one way of
safeguarding participants' privacy (Husband, 2020; Kanygin & Koretckaia, 2021; Shafi,
2020). Before the interview, I received a signed consent form from each participant,
consenting to their voluntary participation in the interview process.

The data organization technique for the proposed study involved creating an electronic folder for data files for each participant. The electronic folder for the participants included participants' interview forms, transcribed notes from recordings, and file notes for the interview, including field observation notebook and archival records. I adopted pseudonyms with codes like P1, P2, and P3 to conceal individual participants' identities and ensure confidentiality and protection (Kanygin & Koretckaia, 2021).

I stored the participants' informed consent, internal documents, and the interviewer's notes in a locked, fireproof safe. Electronic records like interview recordings, data transcriptions, and data analysis files are password-protected and stored using password-protected electronic files stored on a digital hard drive and kept in a fireproof safe. I have stored all data and will destroy them after five years.

Data Analysis

Data triangulation involves using multiple external analysis methods to confirm the data collected and enhance the reliability of the study (Fusch et al., 2018; Jentoft &

Olsen, 2019; Natow, 2019; Renz et al., 2018). According to Natow (2019), researchers may derive multiple data sources from different periods, locations, or perspectives.

Jentoft and Olsen (2019) suggested another form of triangulation that involves using various methodologies. For example, a researcher uses more than one qualitative data collection method, including collecting data through interviews, observations, and documents. The purpose of this qualitative single case study focused on methodological triangulation using semistructured interviews for inquiry, member checking for accuracy and saturation, and data triangulation using internal and public documents available. The internal documents included financial statements, internal newsletters, and other human resource information available. Public records consisted of the company websites and market data from news journals,

Different methods exist to analyze qualitative data (Aspers & Corte, 2019; Yin, 2018). The focus of this qualitative single case study was to utilize an inductive analytical strategy. I used a tabular format to transcribe the interview data collected from the participant, synthesize the data, and develop themes relating to the problem statement. I completed the data analysis using an inductive analytical approach for open coding of groups and subgroups using NVivo 12 software. The findings were then integrated into the conceptual framework of transformational leadership skills to complete the study. The inductive analytical procedures are tools for grounded theory; however, according to Yin (2018), the underlying idea is suitable for case study design.

A researcher performs an in-depth examination of the data using open code. The researcher identifies similarities and relevant dissimilarities. The qualitative analytical

software NVivo 12 aided the facilitating of data coding to enable the identification of emerging patterns. Before employing codes, I imported all data, including memoirs and the interview transcripts, into a Word document into NVivo 12 software. The NVivo 12 software generated themes to help assign meaning to participants' responses. The NVivo 12 software assisted in facilitating the task of organizing and analyzing data. The software provided an effective mechanism for performing qualitative data analyses to ensure data accuracy, credibility, and reliability (Linneberg & Korsgaard, 2019; Maher et al., 2018; Parameswaran et al., 2020). I reviewed the notes to ensure I had addressed each interview question and replayed the recorded interviews to refresh my memory of the interview. Yin (2018) suggested diverse starting points for data analysis, including contrasting data within a matrix, the use of visual graphics like flowcharts, and taking notes. In the initial stages, I attempted to use visual graphics.

Reliability and Validity

Reliability and validity are the two quality standards to evaluate qualitative research (Takahashi & Araujo, 2020). In a qualitative research, reliability is arriving at the same conclusion when the researcher uses the same data and protocol as the original case study (Hayashi Jr. et al., 2019; Yin, 2018). Validity in qualitative research is for the researcher to total view of how the study methodology, design, sampling, and study conclusion fit the studied event (Hayashi Jr. et al., 2019; Yin, 2018). Validity means credibility, confirmability, and transferability in a qualitative study (Takahashi & Araujo, 2020; Yin, 2018).

Reliability

In qualitative research, the reliability of a study is the ability of another researcher to replicate the study's findings using the same or similar methodology, data, tools, and study design for another study (Hayashi Jr. et al., 2019; Yin, 2018). Another name for reliability in quantitative research is dependability (Takahashi & Araujo, 2020). In qualitative research, data saturation (Sechelski & Onwuegbuzie, 2019), member checking (Iivari, 2018), and the researcher's audit trail of decision-making (Marshall & Rossman, 2016) enhance the reliability of the research. This study reached data saturation when the interviewees provided no new information through the interview and member checking. I developed a detailed audit trail using notes during the interview and data analysis stage, built an interview journal during the interview process, and clarified interviewee responses. In a case study, the researcher relies on a small number of participants to obtain in-depth and detailed answers. To achieve reliability, I documented every step of the research design and eliminated any departure from the research method selected for this proposed study. I followed a methodical data collection process to help in achieving trustworthiness and reliability throughout the proposed research (see Hayashi Jr. et al., 2019). Throughout the data analysis, I used notes to assist me recognized the relationship between data groups, subgroups, and themes.

Validity

Qualitative validity is the degree to which a researcher concludes because the research accurately describes what happened (Hayashi Jr. et al., 2019; Rose & Johnson, 2020; Yin, 2018). Takahashi and Araujo (2020) outlined three concepts for considering

the validity of qualitative research and offered them in place of the traditional quantitatively-oriented criteria validity. The concepts are (a) conformability, (b) credibility, and (c) transferability (Takahashi & Araujo, 2020).

Confirmability in qualitative research is based on the connection between the research findings and the study conclusion and has no relationship with research biases (Hayashi Jr. et al., 2019; Takahashi & Araujo, 2020). However, prejudice allows researchers to collect essential data from interviewees, but interpreting prejudiced data can lead to researcher bias (Aspers & Corte, 2019; Kern, 2018). Researcher bias borders on credibility in qualitative research (Hayashi Jr. et al., 2019; Houman et al., 2018; Kern, 2018). Researchers enrich confirmability by maintaining field notes, developing audit trails, using member checking, and data triangulation (Fusch et al., 2018; Jentoft & Olsen, 2019; Renz et al., 2018). To improve confirmability in this study, I created an audit trail by recording interviews, member checking, data transcriptions, and developing research notes. I used methodological triangulation to confirm the study outcome and to ascertain any deviation from the results.

Member checking is a necessary procedure to enrich the validity of the research (Iivari, 2018; Marshall & Rossman, 2016). By member checking, participants can confirm, clarify, or augment the accuracy of the data captured (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The importance of member checking in qualitative inquiry enables the researcher to ensure dependability, credibility, reliability, and validity in the recorded interview (Iivari, 2018; Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Providing transcripts to participants to check for accuracy and data confirmation will also ensure the proposed study's credibility and

validity (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Credibility measures trust that the researcher has properly conducted all study aspects, including the accuracy and completeness of the outcomes (Takahashi & Araujo, 2020; Yin, 2018). I provided participants with a transcription of the in-depth interview for review to confirm all data. Participants' opportunities for feedback and clarification increased and improved the credibility and validity of the proposed study (Takahashi & Araujo, 2020). I utilized methodological triangulation.

Transferability

Validation of research findings comprises generating and comparing the different data and perspectives on the topic under investigation (Houman et al., 2018). The objective of this qualitative research helped identify reliable, dependable, and transferable factors to support the design concept, thus reducing any bias or incorrect interpretations (Peach et al., 2018). Qualitative researchers depend on findings identified as transferable to future research or a similar organization. Transferability is the degree to which the outcome of qualitative inquiry can be generalized or transferred to another setting (Levitt, 2021). I included the detailed research, data analysis, and interview process protocol to ensure transferability. A trustworthy study should be transferable to assure readers of a qualitative study's results (Cloutier & Ravasi, 2021; Peach et al., 2018).

Transition and Summary

The section begins with a qualitative case study design to explore the leadership skills needed to implement mergers and acquisitions in Ghana. I reviewed the data collection, analysis, instruments, techniques, reliability, and validity of the research. The

research method and design are in line with established case study research. Section 3 focused on the data collection, analysis, and interpretation. I included in this section the study results and the implication for business in Ghana. The study concluded with a recommendation for action for further research and will give a summary of the result of the study.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Introduction

This qualitative single-case study aimed to explore leadership skills needed by banking leaders to implement mergers and acquisitions successfully. I interviewed eight executive and senior-level managers from a merged financial institution in Ghana. All the participants interviewed were in senior management positions and were present before, during, and after a merger of two financial institutions. I conducted semistructured interviews with open-ended questions to answer the overarching research question for this study: What leadership skills do some banking leaders need to plan and implement mergers and acquisitions? The participants answered nine open-ended interview questions and followed questions for clarity of responses. After I transcribed interview data, developed the interview summaries, and finalized member checking, I imported the data into NVivo 12 analytical software to adapt data coding. I also reviewed relevant documents, including the financial statements of the two banks before the merger and the consolidated financial statements two years after the merger, internal newsletters, external journals, and other public documents. I used my reflective journal with my observations and notes on each participant, as suggested by Yin (2018), to triangulate and confirm the interview data. I used inductive analysis to identify four main interrelated themes relevant to the research question. The themes are (a) idealized influence, (b) inspirational motivation, (c) individual consideration, and (d) intellectual stimulation. The initial research findings for this study matched the attributes of transformational leadership skills proposed by Burns (1978) and expanded by Bass (1985).

Presentation of the Findings

The central research question for this qualitative single-case study was: What leadership skills do some banking leaders need to implement mergers and acquisitions successfully in Ghana? Using open-ended interview questions relevant to the overarching research question, I interviewed nine senior-level management members from two individual commercial banks that merged in Ghana with the head office in Accra. I recorded the interviews, which required transcriptions. After the transcriptions, I summarized the completed interviews and used member checking to ensure the data were complete. I reached data saturation with no new information offered after the eighth participant. For data triangulation, I reviewed relevant internal documents, information on the corporate website, and publicly available information to validate the data. I imported the data into NVivo 12 Analytical Software to assist in the data coding. Using inductive analytics, I identified four interrelated themes and sub-themes relevant to the skills needed to successfully implement merger and acquisition, the existing literature, and the well-defined conceptual framework.

The themes that emerged regarding idealized influence were: (a) trust, (b) personal commitment and teamwork, and (c) prioritization of employee needs. The following themes emerged under inspirational motivation: (a) communicating the vision and (b) motivating employees. The themes for individualized consideration were: (a) employee focus, (b) guidance monitoring, and (c) mentoring and counseling. Intellectual stimulation had the following themes: (a) empowerment, (b) creativity, and (c) culture.

Table 1

Occurrence Idealized Influence

Theme	f	% of Occurrence
Trust	8	100
Personal Commitment and Teamwork	5	63
Prioritization of employee needs	5	63

Note. f refers to the frequency of occurrence of the theme.

Theme 1: Idealized Influence

When the participants' responses and other relevant internal data were analyzed, the first theme was the idealized influence of transformational leaders. Responses to Interview Questions 2 and 3 reflect the respondents' idealized influence behavior. The literature supports the emerging themes: trust, values, and prioritizing or focusing on employees' needs (see Table 1). When a leader exhibits trustworthiness, prioritizes, and focuses on employees' needs as well as the value system of employees, it significantly influences job performance (Hosna et al., 2021; Khattak et al., 2020). According to Gupta (2020), when leaders exhibit idealized influence, employees appreciate, honor, and trust the leader when implementing a change process like a merger. All the participants related idealized influence leaders to employees' workplace performance. The participants agreed that leaders who effectively apply idealized leadership skills enhance job performance after a merger integration process.

Trust

All the participants assented that trust in the leader must be the dominant skill to cultivate in an important change like a merger of two banks. Trust supports the relationship between idealized influence and job satisfaction (Khan et al., 2020; Siswanto & Yuliana, 2022). For example, P5 stated, "Working with people I did not know, I had to build trust and confidence to win the team's support." According to P1, "the change caused apprehension and therefore building employee trust was important in achieving the goals set for the leader." P3 pointed out, "I had an entirely new and difficult team during the initial stages of the integration, and therefore building trust and confidence was reciprocated with loyalty and with less supervision, the team gave their heart out hence my initial success." In a similar study, Mahmud (2022) concluded that trust has a significant and direct role in applying knowledge in a change process. P7 believed that trust imposed on the leader ensured team commitment, and this was pronounced especially during the second year after the integration of the two institutions.

Employees' apprehension during a merger is due to a lack of trust in the new management, so the importance of a trusting relationship between the leader and the followers fosters the employees' organizational identity (Altunoglu et al., 2019; Khan et al., 2020; Purwanto et al., 2021). According to Altunoglu et al. (2019), trust facilitates the relationship between a transformational leader's behavior and a follower's job performance. Mahdikhani and Yazdani (2020) concluded that trust culminates in interpersonal trust to drive team performance in mergers. Gupta (2020) intimated that if there is a lack of trust among team members and leadership, the tasks assigned to the

team may fail. P1 confirmed that the lack of initial trust between employees and management caused employees apprehension during the onboarding leading to the exit of a third of the staff a day after the start of integrating the two businesses. P1 was in agreement with Purwanto et al. (2021), that the absence of trust causes a lack of employees identifying with the organization.

A review of some of the internal documents revealed a deliberate effort by the management of the merged institution to enhance trust through the following: (a) putting trust as part of the institution's mission statement and displaying it at all the offices throughout the country, (b) the company's journals and newsletters depict pictures of regular social bonding, and (c) town hall meetings to improve trust between management staff and employees. It is, therefore, not surprising that an analysis of the consolidated financial statement depicts a sudden acceleration of all liquidity performance two years after the merger.

Personal Commitment and Teamwork

About half of the participants agreed that the leader's commitment to the process and collaboration were fundamental to achieving success beyond a merger integration stage. P1 emphasized, "I spent about 70% of my time with the team throughout the pre-integration period, and most of the period, I was the last to leave the office." P6 said, "I was always telling the team about my achievement and the process I went through to achieve my success." P2 and P1 agreed that leadership by example was a significant driver of the team's performance during the integration stage. P4 intimated that "I worked hard and joined in the daily activities of my team." P8 indicated, "In our team, it was

difficult to identify the boss and the subordinate. My staff emulated my hard work." Ibrahim et al. (2019) indicated that when the supervisor provides the necessary support to the team, the quitting intentions of the employees in curtailed. P8 agreed with Ibrahim et al. (2019) that the employee quitting intentions reduced one year after the integration when management started providing all the support to the team members.

Al Hosani et al. (2020) suggested that the leader's commitment affects the team's commitment, leading to team synergy and high productivity; leaders' commitment ensures employee commitment, corporate trust, and the perceived effectiveness of staff during the post-merger. About 50% of participants said they do what employees expect from them. The leader's characteristics and personal behavior drive idealization (Kasimoglu & Ammari, 2020). The idealized features of a transformational leader measure the followers, perception of the leader's exemplary achievements and values, and the behavior measures the employee observation of the leader's behavior (Afshari, 2022). All the participants confirmed they were punctual at their internal meetings and the organization workshops organized after the integration.

Prioritization of employee needs.

Leaders with idealization characteristics consider the needs of their employees (Dung & Hai, 2020; Owie, 2019). A review of the financial statement revealed an increase in staff cost as a result of spending monies on staff priority areas, including the provision of fuel for cars, rent, and upward adjustment in salaries after the integration. P1 and P5 said that with the limited resources available to their departments, the needs of their staff were prioritized above their own, which generated enthusiasm in the team

toward work. P3 said, "I work for my staff, and their welfare is my primacy." According to P5, if the team members perceive you to be caring, sharing, selfless, and generous, they respond with a high commitment to productivity.

The perception of workers regarding the selfless attitude of their leaders motivates them to commit themselves to organizational goals and efficient performance (Khattak et al., 2020). Leaders' selfless behavior and values inspire employees' commitment to organizational goals (Xie, 2020). Gashema (2019) agreed with other scholars that the perception of leaders' idealized attributes is associated with improved workplace performance and posited that idealized leaders win the trust of their employees for greater employee productivity.

The attributes of idealized influence include charisma, moral values, and ethics (Avolio et al., 1999; Williams Jr. et al., 2018). Idealized influence appeals to the values and belief systems of employees and motivates the employees to admire leadership for increased workplace productivity (Owie, 2019). A review of the consolidated financial statements three years after integration, from 2014 to 2016, shows consistent growth in profitability and deposit, higher than the first three years of consolidation. Leaders with idealized influence motivate employees to identify with trust, which enhances productivity (Alwahaibi, 2019; Khattak et al., 2020).

Table 2

Inspirational Motivation

Theme	f	% of Occurrence
Motivation	8	100
Communication	7	88

Note. f refers to the frequency of occurrence of the theme.

Theme 2: Inspirational Motivation

Inspirational motivation was the second theme predominant from the responses in Interview Questions 2, 6, and 8. The two main themes that emerged were motivation and communication (see Table 2). Interviewees shared their thoughts on essential leadership skills needed to implement mergers and acquisitions; using verbal communication by leaders to share vision and motivation was frequent under inspirational motivation.

Motivation.

Motivation relates to a human need and is indispensable in promoting employee performance (Majid & Samsudin, 2021). Inspirational leaders motivate behavior where the employees must use their various skills in the team (Kariuki, 2021; Thuan, 2020; Yizhong et al., 2019). According to Al Harbi et al. (2019), inspirational leaders motivate their followers to be effective and efficient to enrich job resources. Studies have established that inspirational leaders impact organizations positively (Hosna et al., 2021; Kariuki, 2021; Majid & Samsudin, 2021). Motivation is done through job demands, skills

direction, decision authority, and perceived organizational support (Majid & Samsudin, 2021; Yizhong et al., 2019).

Inspirational leaders understand the use of a reward system to contribute to the success or failure of the new organization (Khan et al., 2020; Sanchez & Criado, 2019). The participants agreed that inspirational motivators effectively communicate performance expectations that inspire team members' commitment to work (Bansal & King, 2022; Hassan & Lukman, 2020). The participants said they consciously tried to motivate their employees using appropriate reward systems. P1, P2, and P4 believed that giving more opportunities for team members for job empowerment plays a significant role in enhancing employees' performance. All the participants agreed that they used motivating communications and emotional appeals to stimulate employee performance and productivity. Inspirational motivation is the approach leaders adopt to inspire team members against integration exit (Beraud et al., 2020). P1 and P3 believed the team achieved its targets at the later stages of the merger implementation because the team members were motivated to take on additional tasks despite losing some of the key team members at the initial stages of the merger. A similar study by Afsar and Umrani (2020) using 35 firms in Pakistan's service and manufacturing sectors concluded that transformational leadership positively impacts employees' innovative work behavior and motivation to learn more tasks.

Communication.

All the participants agreed with the role of communication skills in implementing a change like mergers and acquisitions. All the participants said they reminded their team

of the objective and vision of the merger at village and team meetings. P1 said, "I communicated the entire vision and plan of the merger to my team members to energize them for commitment and result." Available studies by Agnetha and Hidayat (2021) and Bansal and King (2022) concluded that effective communication is a tool for every merger or acquisition transaction stage. According to Bansal and King (2022), team members better understand the merger or acquisition process's expected outcome when managers focus on communicating useful, timely, accurate, and sufficient information throughout the process. P8 believed the communication process must be thought through before starting the merger or acquisition process. According to P1, managers should concern themselves with the type of meetings (town hall, breakfast, or lunch), message to deliver, transfer of employees, and employee placements. Without effective and timely leader communication, employee morale and job performance are affected, resulting in a high attrition rate and poor workplace performance (see Bansal & King, 2022; Cooke et al., 2020). P1 stated, "The lack of timely communication between the project team and the department heads caused a high attrition rate in the first two years of the integration." P8 intimated that in a particular department, almost the entire team resigned on the first integration day because of information delay." P5 said, "I communicated the vision of the merger to my team but did not get their buy-in because it was late and the team members had made up their minds to leave." P7 stated, "On several instances, I consulted with my staff by holding frequent team meetings and briefing the team members on the general vision of the merger." P2 intimated that effective communication is the ability of the manager to engage team members on job expectations openly. According to P1, a

conscious effort was made to openly engage all staff across the organization before the onboarding of staff onto the new institution; however, P1 intimated that there was a gap in the information flow that nearly derailed the project. P1's assertion agrees with Rodriguez-Sanchez et al. (2020) that the engagement of employees is only considered at the integration stage, making it difficult to manage talent during a merger or acquisition. P4 stated, "During team leaders' meetings, all the leaders were involved in reviewing the implementation rollout and the goal of the merger. One of the characteristics of a transformational leader is the leader's ability to communicate organizational goals effectively and offer specific expectations for employee performance (Bansal & King, 2022).

All the participants confirmed the use of several internal mediums of communication, including face-to-face and team, for communicating the merger objectives to their employees. Some of the study participants believed there needed to be more effective communication between the project and the implementation teams. By the time the onboarding started, most staff had made up their minds on what to do. P7 and P8 stated they were not surprised that the delay in communicating the merger caused staff apprehension and anxiety, resulting in high staff attrition in the first year of integration. P1 said, "The initial communication before the merger was focused on administrative integration by defining the future processes and procedures of the merged entity, the available opportunities, and employee apprehension." Bansal and King (2022) agreed that communication should be continuous throughout the entire merger or acquisition process to enrich organizational strength and employee satisfaction after an acquisition or merger.

The remaining employee has confidence in the information being communicated, and this was evidenced in the employee's commitment to the new institution to enhance postmerger performance (Agnetha & Hidayat, 2021; Cooke et al., 2020). Effective communication reduces employee apprehension and resistance to the merger and acquisition processes (Al Hosani et al., 2020). P8 stated that "communication provided the team members the opportunity to discuss the vision of the merger and provided feedback to address the team concern and operational improvement." According to P5, organizing a 'time out' for a social event helped gain the team members' trust and confidence.

 Table 3

 Individualized Consideration

Theme	f	% of Occurrence
Employee Focus	5	100
Guidance and Monitoring	4	50
Mentoring and Counseling	4	50

Note. f refers to the frequency of occurrence of the theme.

Theme 3: Individualized Consideration

The themes that emerged under individualized consideration were: Individual employee focus, support and monitoring, and mentoring and counseling (Table 3). The participants linked individual reviews to workplace performance. The themes aligned with existing literature by Bass and Avolio (1997).

Employee focus.

The participants were of the view that the majority of the employees in their team had unique skills. P5 said, "I monitored my team members to develop their skills to enrich job objectives." Leaders with individualized consideration skills mentor their followers, training them to perform well (Cahyono et al., 2020). P1 intimated that focusing on the individual employees created a stage to improve their growth. P8 added that to know the unique personal and career challenges, I met my team members face to face on a regular basis. All the emerging themes aligned with the existing literature on individualized consideration of the transformational leader and workplace performance (Alwahaibi, 2019; Avolio et al., 1999; Xie, 2020). All participants agreed with Bass and Avolio (1997) that individualized consideration encompasses the leader being compassionate and caring regarding individual skills and talents of individual employees for job innovations and personal creativity. About 63% of employees concurred that leaders' support for individual creativity improved job innovations and productivity.

Guidance and monitoring.

Monitoring and supervision are essential transformational leadership strategies to enhance employee performance (Cahyono et al., 2020; Eliyana & Maarif, 2019). Almost all the participants agreed that practical support and an effective monitoring system were helpful as both improved employee performance. According to the literature, the leader's approval and effective monitoring strategy are essential in improving employee performance, which aligns with the study outcome (Cahyono et al., 2020; Eliyana & Maarif, 2019).

My review of some of the institution's programs and participants' feedback indicated that adequate support and monitoring played an essential role in enhancing employee performance. About half of the participants agreed that they implemented effective support systems and monitoring to improve team performance during the merger integration process. P1 and P5 stated, "Regular visits to branches and participating in team weekly performance meetings prompted the staff to review their performance regularly to avoid putting them on the spot." P4 stated, "I supported the individual team members to develop their weekly and monthly key performance indicators to align with the corporate strategy." According to P5, an employee seeing my presence in the offices is enough to ensure order and discipline. Most participants agreed that extending support to the team members helped leaders design appropriate employee training and development needs after the merger integration. P8 stated, "I support the team by providing on-the-job training to new staff on the job."

The transformational leadership theorist supports the importance of monitoring and supervision as a strategy to enhance employee workplace performance during a change like a merger (see Eliyana & Maarif, 2019; Kariuki, 2021). P6 stated, "I conducted weekly and monthly performance reviews for all employees in my team, and those behind were given regular support to achieve their set targets. I observed that the rationale for the monitoring and approval was for (i) reward and promotion, (ii) building team spirit, (iii) leader-subordinate relationships, and (iv) building employee self-confidence. Researchers concluded that when leaders support and monitor team

members, their creative skills are enhanced to improve job performance and productivity (Cahyono et al., 2020; Eliyana & Maarif, 2019; Ibrahim et al., 2019).

Mentoring and Counseling.

The participants agreed that employee productivity depends on the leader's ability to mentor and counsel employees who have undergone significant changes, like mergers or acquisitions. P1, P3, and P8 indicated that a day before the integration announcement, they had taken their team members through counseling and mentoring against any surprises expected from role changes due to movements across departments, new roles, and transfers. P1 stated, "I mentored new employees who were transferred to my department to get accustomed to how we do our things." According to the transformational leadership theorist, individualized consideration behavior includes mentoring and counseling team members to increase workplace performance (Avolio et al., 1999; Bass, 1985; Liu et al., 2021). P1 and P8 agreed with Bass (1985) that leaders with high individualized consideration demonstrated care through attention to team members to provide challenging performance at the workplace. Scholars believe that individualized consideration entails attending to the individual team member's needs, rewarding their performance, and paying attention to their welfare (Kariuki, 2021; Seitz & Owens, 2021).

Table 4

Intellectual Stimulation

Theme	f	% of Occurrence
Empowerment	6	100
Creativity	7	50
Culture	8	50

Note. f refers to the frequency of occurrence of the theme.

Theme 4: Intellectual stimulation

The three common themes from Questions 2 and 8 were employee empowerment, innovation, and culture (beliefs). Words like culture and beliefs were used interchangeably. From the interview questions, all participants believed that their creative skills are developed when employees are included in the decision-making process and problem-solving from the beginning.

Empowering employee.

Employee empowerment was a regular occurrence in participants' responses to the interview questions regarding experience sharing, problem-solving, and decision-making. Yizhong et al. (2019) suggested that transformational leaders improve employees' employability through job demands, skill discretion, decision authority, team member exchange, and perceived organizational support. P7 and P8 intimated that they always prefer creative employees closer to them. In a similar study, the researchers concluded that there is a relationship between transformational leadership, organizational

citizenship behavior, and employee empowerment (Bose et al., 2021; Purwanto et al., 2021; Saira et al., 2021).

Participants in the study described sharing experiences among employees and greater meaning attributed to the internal task. About 75% of the participants agreed that involving team members in decision-making during and after the integration increased their knowledge and commitment. Ambad et al. (2021) and Bose et al. (2021) suggested that when employees are empowered, they put in extra work effort and are creative in executing their tasks, which tends to increase performance at work. P1 stated, "I gave the team members some independence to develop their strategy after we have set our objectives. This empowered the employees and gave them some sense of ownership." P4 stated, "I allowed my team members to have input during most team meetings. I, therefore, achieved their commitment to rolling out the overall strategy of the merger." P8 said, "My team members always walk to me because of my open-door policy." Participants connected teams' performance and empowerment to the intellectual stimulation of free-associating with the team members. In a study by Magasi (2021), the researcher used 325 banking sector employees to examine the role of transformational leadership on employee performance based on employee empowerment. Magasi concluded that intellectual stimulation had a positive relationship with employees' performance in the banking sector. However, the relationship is enhanced by effectively empowering employees (Magasi (2021). P3 and P7 said reasoning with my team members improved their individual and organizational learning skills. When leaders empower and coach employees, it helps them to develop strategies to handle new

challenges (see Al Harbi et al., 2019). P4 stated, "Even though I knew the benefit of employee empowerment, the integration time was too short to give room for individual decision-making." "P1 said, "lack of adequate empowerment may have been one of the causes of high staff turnover in the initial stages of the integration." P 2 said, "I did not think alone but involved my team for most of the decision at the implementation stage, and I got their buy-in." Leaders in the banking sector have to empower employees and create an environment that encourages learning, creativity, and innovation for enhanced performance (see Magasi, 2021). When leaders are empowered, their creative performance is enhanced to achieve higher productivity (Thuan, 2020).

Creativity.

Scholars postulated that transformational leadership intellectual stimulation skills impact employees' creative performance (Kasimoglu & Ammari, 2020; Mahmood et al., 2019; Thuan, 2020). Most participants mentioned the importance of employee creativity to the survival of implementing a change like mergers in a financial institution. P1, P2, and P4 said they had a series of meetings before the integration to brainstorm strategies to implement successful integration. According to Mahmood et al. (2019), employee's perception of the leader's vision of creativity regulates employees' achievement on the job. P1 and P2 mentioned that all their team members were allowed to develop creative ideas about the new work process as part of their strategy. P1 postulated that the team instituted a special award for individual employees who successfully achieved extraordinary performance using their creative ideas to execute the integration plan. A careful review of the institution's public journal confirms individual meritorious awards

given by the institution one year after the merger for individual extraordinary creativity performance. The findings from the study are consistent with the study by Al Harbi et al. (2019) on the relationship between transformational leadership and employee creativity. The work of Gashema (2019) and Al Harbi et al. (2019) on creativity and employee job performance indicates that leaders who practice transformational leadership inspire team members' creativity and innovation for an effective workplace.

Culture.

Culture is a tool leaders use to shape behaviors in organizations (Poturak et al., 2020). According to Hofstede (1980), culture is the programming of the mind to individualize the members of one group from the other. Poturak et al. (2020) postulated that intellectual stimulation enhances employee awareness about beliefs, problems, and values within the organization. The leader's awareness of cultural differences was critical in Interview Questions 6, 7, and 8. All participants alluded that culture shaped the behaviors of the employees to conform to the new organizational goals and determined the performance of the individuals. P1 stated, "From the onset, I knew how differences in culture of the two organizations were going to impact the employee's performance, so I developed a strategy of staff engagement to outline the new culture to team members during the onboarding." P2 said, "even though I understood how cultural differences can affect the attitude of the team members, I never estimated that the cultural differences between the two organizations were wide apart so that, by the time of the onboarding I have lost most members of my team." Al-Shibami et al. (2019) suggested that there is a relationship between transformational leadership intellectual stimulation and

organizational culture. P4, P5, P7, and P8 believed that the speed of the integration gave little time for the team members to be carried along at the initial stages of the integration and therefore lost some of the experienced staff. The reaction of staff confirms studies by Cheng (2019) and Samal et al. (2019) that cultural clashes in mergers lead to a decline in employee satisfaction and a loss in performance. All the participants agreed that some of the employees showed resistance and apathy during the onboarding (see Samal et al., 2019). The participants' feedback agreed with Voth (2020) that transformational leaders study the cultural differences between the two organizations and use their intellectual stimulation skills to drive team members with the best cultural fit for the new organization.

Summary

Four themes surfaced from the study on the leadership skills needed to implement successful mergers and acquisitions in Ghana. These were (a) idealized influence, (b) Inspirational motivation, (c) Individual consideration, and (d) Intellectual stimulation. These themes are consistent with the attributes of transformational leadership theory by Burns (1978), expanded by Bass and Avolio (1997). The themes align with the conceptual framework of this study, the transformational leadership theory propounded by Bass and Avolio (1997). The participants' accounts indicated a direct relationship between transformational leadership style and employee workplace performance, as recommended by (Cahyono et al., 2020; Mahmood et al., 2019; Palalic & Mhamed, 2020). The outcomes from the study are coherent with existing literature on the transformational leadership paradigm and employee performance. A plethora of literature

suggests that transformational leadership behavior is associated with employee productivity outcomes, including (a) motivation, (b) job satisfaction, (c) performance, (d) emotional needs, (e) workplace performance, and (f) employee turnover (Eliyana & Maarif, 2019; Hosna et al., 2021; Khan et al., 2020; Ibrahim et al., 2019; Langat et al., 2019; Seung et al., 2020; Siswanto & Yuliana, 2022). Participants asserted that their inspirational skills and selfless attitude influence and empower their employees to achieve high performance, especially after the integration. The literature available suggests that transformational leadership inspires employee interest and commitment to share objectives for higher productivity through (a) inspiration (Avolio et al., 1999), (b) sacrifice (Al-Ghazali, 2020), and (c) teamwork (Alwahaibi, 2019; Han et al., 2020) to empower and influence employee performance.

The findings of this study align with Rizwan et al. (2020) study of eight top leaders of a bank that had gone through an acquisition. The participants were involved in the integration process and, therefore, a witness to all decision-making processes. The researchers concluded that leaders could influence employee performance and creativity after the acquisition. Mahmood et al. (2019) posit that transformational leaders influence employees' creative behavior and performance. Dung and Hai (2020) suggested that transformational leadership is essential to organizational change performance in an environment facing significant organizational change. Dung and Hai (2020) collected data from 475 employees who have undergone mergers and acquisitions from different industries in Vietnam. The findings suggested that transformational leadership positively influences job satisfaction and organizational commitment to change. The authors

believed that applying a transformational leadership style and the elements of idealized influence, inspirational motivation, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration can positively impact the employee's mentality and behavior during organizational change. Furthermore, leaders must improve employee job satisfaction because it could help drive motivation and influence the employee's psychology, attitude, and behavior toward organizational change (Dung & Hai, 2020). The results from this study support the body of literature on transformational leadership study by Bass (1985) and Bass and Avolio (1997), and the findings show that transformational leadership skills of Banking executives in Ghana enhance employee performance.

Applications to Professional Practice

This study is essential to understand the practical leadership skills banking leaders need to plan and implement mergers and acquisitions complexities and improve performance in Ghana. The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore the leadership skills needed to implement mergers and acquisitions in Ghana. The findings from the study and recommendations will contribute to senior managers' understanding of the practical leadership skills needed to implement mergers and acquisitions complexities and improve employee morale. The study results could guide new banking leaders of Ghanaian banks going into new mergers and acquisitions to exhibit appropriate leadership behavior to improve employees' commitment, innovation, and productivity. The results from the study align with the nature of transformational leaders by Rodriguez-Sanchez et al. (2020). The study findings suggested that leadership strategies that brought new ideas and innovations enabled team leaders to enhance

employee performance and contribute to positive employee commitment (see Bansal, 2020). Transformational leaders influence employees to innovate and solve complex problems to enhance productivity. According to Xie (2020), employees' performance is enhanced when transformational leaders inspire and motivate their employees. Khattak et al. (2020) suggested that a transformational leader overcomes mistrust by creating a transparent communication channel during and after an organizational change. The trust culminates into an interpersonal trust that drives performance (Mahdikhani & Yazdani, 2020).

The findings of this study are relevant to professional practice, for the leaders in the Ghana banking industry will have practical solutions in future mergers and acquisitions. Furthermore, the findings are a practical guide for banking leaders to change their leadership styles and improve employee performance to increase growth and business share. The study findings will help leaders create job opportunities because successful mergers and acquisitions lead to business expansion. The findings in this study and recommendations added to the knowledge of business growth by identifying the needed leadership skills that enhance employee performance.

Effective Business Practice

Findings from this study are coherent with existing literature on effective business practices, emphasizing transformational leadership's impact on employees' performance. Globalization has provided opportunities for rapid economic growth and business expansion hence the need for effective leadership, which can change employees' attitudes and behavior during an organizational change like mergers and acquisitions (see Faupel

& Suss, 2019). Consequently, Faupel and Suss (2019) established the proficiency of transformational leaders in changing organizations into competitive businesses globally. Faupel and Suss (2019) concluded that leadership skills promote employees' readiness and commitment to change and motivate them for higher productivity. The outcome of the study supports effective business practice. Transformational leadership styles improve (a) productivity, (b) leader-subordinate relationships, (c) employee commitment, (d) turnover intentions, and (d) organizational citizenship. Findings from the study support existing literature on transformational leadership and effective business practices.

Transformational leadership skills of banking executives in Ghana promote successful implementation of mergers and acquisitions and enhanced work productivity.

Implications for Social Change

Mergers and acquisitions are business complexities associated with employee anxieties and mistrust. The process results in emotional apprehension that causes employee resistance (Khan et al., 2020). Effective leadership influences followers' behavior regarding the organizational goal and strategy (Al Harbi et al., 2019). A study has shown that effective leadership directly or indirectly affects team commitment and productivity (Xie, 2020). Mergers and acquisition challenges need visionary leaders who can provide safety and support for the new entity to meet the global challenges (Kuntz et al., 2019; Page & Schoder, 2019). Transformational leaders have higher effectiveness on employee performance and business competitiveness under global challenges than other leadership styles.

The implication of positive social change includes the likelihood of developing a leadership strategy by banking executives to implement mergers and acquisitions complexities and improve employee morale in the banking industry (Rodriguez-Sanchez et al., 2020). A successful merger or acquisition may improve profitability and economic growth, meaning retaining skilled employees and reducing unemployment in the Ghanaian economy (Bansal, 2020). The findings from this study may create new job opportunities because when businesses expand, demand for labor may increase and reduce unemployment.

Recommendations for Action

This study's findings demonstrate a relationship between transformational leadership skills and employee workplace performance. I, therefore, recommend that banking leaders revise their leadership approaches and adopt transformational leadership behavior implementing a business change like a merger or acquisition. Transformational leaders have effectively enhanced employee performance after integrating two merged banks in Ghana. The human resource department should train its executives, regional managers, departmental heads, and supervisors in transformational leadership skills.

Banking leaders who want to embark on a successful merger or acquisition to increase productivity and market share may introduce their leaders to the transformational leadership style. Opportunities exist to present the findings of this study at professional conferences and the Ghana National Banking College. I will publish this study in the ProQuest/UMI dissertation database and other scholarly journals. I intend to

write a white paper for the Ghana Association of Bankers to incorporate the findings in individual banks' programs.

Recommendations for Further Research

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore leadership skills used by some banking leaders to implement mergers and acquisitions successfully. The limitation of this study was the sample size of participants. Future studies should include a larger population and quantitative methods to produce findings that can be generalized to a larger sample. Furthermore, the study is limited to one bank, the head office in Accra, Ghana; I, therefore, recommend further studies with multi banks and participants from other regional branches.

Reflections

I had the chance to interview banking executives who manage a bank that had been through a successful merger for over 7 years. This project has widened my knowledge and understanding of doctoral research, and my understanding of leadership styles in banking has grown through this research. I accessed participants for this study through purposeful sampling, which was relevant. All participants agreed to participate willingly in the study.

Participants eagerly shared their lived experiences. After going through the interview questions, I discussed general issues with the participants in the banking industry in Ghana. I had friendly discussions with the participants as they briefed me on corporate leadership practice in the banking industry. The findings from this research have changed my perception of leadership and workplace productivity.

Conclusion

Mergers and acquisitions remain the most significant single investment globally (Reddy et al., 2019; Schweizer et al., 2019). The banking industry in Ghana is growing and becoming competitive, especially with the advent of international banks (Omoregie et al., 2019). It has the highest number of mergers and acquisitions in Ghana (Musah et al., 2020). The banking industry remains one of the single biggest employers of graduates in Ghana (Addai et al., 2022; Affum-Osei et al., 2019). However, one major challenge is the lack of appropriate leadership skills to manage mergers and acquisition complexities (Addai et al., 2022). The focus of this qualitative case study was to explore leadership skills for the successful implementation of mergers and acquisitions in the banking sector in Ghana. The findings show that participants used transformational leadership skills to enhance employee productivity after the integration process serves as a basis for developing transformational leadership skills among Ghanaian Banking leaders to achieve sustainable growth.

The results from the study indicated that transformational leadership behavior contributes to the survival of Ghanaian banks. Designing a transformational leadership program for the banking leaders will improve employee performance and the growth of the banking industry in Ghana. Implementing the findings may help banking leaders improve their transformational leadership skills to enhance workplace productivity.

References

- Addai, P., Mottey, R., Afrifah, M., & Boakye, A. O. (2022). Job insecurity and turnover intentions among banking sector employees: The moderating role of organizational support and ethical leadership. *SEISENSE Journal of Management*, 5(1), 17–30. https://doi.org/10.33215/sjom.v5i1.736
- Affum-Osei, E., Asante, E. A., Forkouh, S. K., Aboagye, M. O., & Antwi, C. O. (2019).

 Unemployment trends and labour market entry in Ghana: Job research methods perspective. *Labour History*, 60(6), 716–733.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/0023656X.2019.1640356
- Afsar, B., & Umrani, W. A. (2020). Transformational leadership and innovative work behavior: The role of motivation to learn, task complexity and innovation climate. *European Journal of Innovation Management*, 23(3), 402–428.

 http://doi.org/10.1108/EJIM-12-2018-0257
- Afshari, L. (2022). Idealized influence and commitment: A granular approach in understanding leadership. *Personal Review*, *51*(2), 805–822. https://doi.org/10.1108/PR-03-2020-0153
- Agarwal, N., & Kwan, P. (2017). Pricing mergers and acquisitions using agent-based modeling. *Economics, Management, and Financial Markets, 12*(1), 55–67. http://doi.org/10.22381/EMFM12120173
- Aggarwal, P., & Garg, S. (2022). Impact of mergers and acquisitions on accounting-based performance of acquiring firms in India. *Global Business Review*, 23(1), 218–236. http://doi.org/10.1177/097215091985D2000I9

- Agnetha, O., & Hidayat, Z. (2021). Leadership communication during organizational change: Internal communication strategy: A case study in a multinational company operating in Indonesia. *Academic Journal of Interdisciplinary Studies*, 10(2), 24–34. https://doi.org/10.36941/ajis-2021-0035
- Al Harbi, J. A., Alarifi, S., & Mosbah, A. (2019). Transformational leadership and creativity: Effects of employees psychological empowerment and intrinsic motivation. *Personal Review*, 48(5), 1082–1099. http://doi.org/10.1108/PR-11-2017-0354
- Alam, M. K. (2021). A systematic qualitative case study: Questions, data collection,

 NVivo analysis and saturation. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management: An International Journal*, 16(1), 1–31.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/QROM-09-2019-1825
- Al Hosani, Y., Jabeen, F., Paul, J., & Stachowicz-Staanusch, A. (2020). Antecedents of employee alienation and its impact on individual work performance during post-merger integration. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 33(6), 1085–1110. http://doi.org/10.1108/JOCM-03-2020-0085
- Al-Ghazali, B. M. (2020). Transformational leadership, career adaptability, job embeddedness and perceived career success: A serial mediation model.

 *Leadership & Organizational Development Journal, 41(8), 993–1013.

 http://doi.org.10.1108i/LODJ-04-2019-0455
- Al-Shibami, A. H., Alateibi, N., Nusari, M., Ameen, A., Khalifa, G. S. A., & Bhaumik, A. (2019). Impact of organizational culture on transformational leadership and

- organizational performance. *International Journal of Recent Technology and Engineering*, 8(2S10), 653–664. https://doi.org/10.35940/ijrte.B1116.0982S1019
- Aljadani, A., & Toumi, H. (2019). Casual effect of mergers and acquisitions on EU bank productivity. *Journal of Economic Structures* 8(44), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40008-019-0176-9
- Altunoglu, A. E., Sahin, F., & Babacan, S. (2019). Transformational leadership, trust, and follower outcomes: A moderated mediation model. *Management Research**Review, 42(3), 370–390. http://doi.org/10.1108/MRR-01-2018-0036
- Alwahaibi, S. S. O. (2019). Transformational leadership: A review on contemporary issues. *International Journal of Academic Research Business and Social Sciences*, 9(3), 1398–1413. http://dx.doi.org/10.6007/IJARBSS/v9i3/5804
- Amankwaa, A., Gyensare, M. A., & Susomrith, P. (2019). Transformational leadership with innovative behaviour: Examining multiple mediating paths. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 40(4), 402–420.

 http://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-10-2018-0358
- Ambad, S. N. A., Kalimin, K. M., Damit, D. H. D., & Andrew, J. V. (2021). The mediating effect of psychological empowerment on leadership styles and task performance of academic staff. *Leadership & Organizational Development Journal*, 42(5), 763–782. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-05-2020-0197
- Amewu, G., & Alagidede, P. (2019). Mergers and executive compensation changes:

 Evidence from African market. *Research in International Business and Finance*,

- *48*(2019), 397–419.
- https://doi.org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.ribaf.2019.01.010
- Andrews, M. (2021). Quality indicators in narrative research. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 18(3), 353–368. https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2020.1769241
- Archibald, M. M., Ambagtsheer, R. C., Casey, M. G., & Lawless, M. (2019). Using zoom videoconferencing for qualitative data collection: Perceptions and experiences of researchers and participants. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 18,* 1–8. http://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919874596
- Aspers, P., & Corte, U. (2019). What is qualitative research? *Qualitative Sociology*, 42, 139–160. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11133-019-9413-7
- Avolio, B. J., & Bass, B. M. (2004). *Multifactor leadership questionnaire* (3rd ed.). Mind Garden.
- Avolio, B. J., Bass, B. M., & Jung, D. I. (1999). Re-examining the components of transformational and transactional leadership using multifactor leadership. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 72, 441–462. https://doi.org/10.1348/096317999166789
- Bansal, A. (2020). Thinking of mergers and acquisitions? Think of justice: A people perspective. *International Journal of Manpower 41*, 435–456. https://dxdoi:10.1108/IJM-02-2019-0087
- Bansal, A., & King, D. R. (2022). Communicating change following an acquisition. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, *33*(9), 1886–1915. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2020.1803947

- Barrett, D., & Twycross, A. (2018). Data collection research. *Evidence-Based Nursing*, 21(3), 63–64. https://doi.org/10.1136/eb-2018-102939
- Bashan, A., & Armon, D. (2019). Quality management challenges in a dynamic reality of mergers, acquisitions and global expansion. *International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management*, 36(7), 1192–1211. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJQRM-06-2018-0161
- Bass, B. M. (1985). Leadership performance beyond expectations. Free Press
- Bass, B. M., & Riggio, R. E. (2006). Transformational leadership. Psychology Press
- Bass, B. M., Avolio, B. J., Jung, D. I., & Berson, Y. (2003). Predicting unit performance *Psychology*, 88(2), 207–218. http://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.88.2.207
- Bass, B. M., & Avolio, B. J. (1997). Full range leadership development: Manual for the multifactor leadership questionnaire. Redwood City: Mind Garden, Inc.
- Beraud, P. L., Drajac, C., & Thomas, M. (2020). Talent management after an acquisition:

 A case study of Roche and Genente. *Strategic HR Review*, 20(1), 30–35

 https://doi.org/10.1108/SHR-09-2020-0082
- Berger, R. (2015). Now I see it, now I don't: Researcher's position and reflexivity in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, 15(2), 219–234.

 http://doi.org/10.1177/1468794112468475
- Bhatta, T. P. (2018). Case study research, philosophical position and theory building: A methodological discussion. *Dhaulagiri Journal of Sociology and Anthropology*, 12(2018), 72–79. https://doi.org/10.3126/dsaj.v12i0.22182

- Bodner, J., & Capron, L. (2018). Post-merger integration. *Journal of Organization*Design, 7(3), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41469-018-0027-4
- Boloupremo, T., & Ogege, S. (2019). Mergers, acquisitions and financial performance: A study of selected financial institutions. *Emerging Markets Journal*, *9*(1), 36–44. https://dx.doi.10.5195/emaj.2019.162
- Borodin, A., Ziyadin, S., Islyam, G., & Panaedova, G. (2020). Impact of mergers and acquisitions on companies' financial performance. *Journal of International Studies*, 13(2),34–47. http://doi.org/10.14254/2071-8330.2020/13-2/3
- Bose, S., Patnaik, B., & Mohanty, S. (2021). The mediating role of psychological empowerment in the relationship between transformational and organizational identification of employees. *The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, *57*(4), 490–510. http://doi.org/10.1177/0021886320920951
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2021). To saturate or not to saturate? Questioning data saturation as a useful concept for thematic analysis and sample-size rationales.

 *Qualitative Research in Sports, Exercise and Health, 13(2), 201–216.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2019.1704846
- Buil, I., Martinez, E., & Matute, J. (2019). Transformational leadership and employee performance: The role of identification, engagement and proactive personality. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 77(2019), 64–75.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2018.06.014

- Burkholder, E., Walsh, C., & Holmes, N. G. (2020). Examination of quantitative methods for analyzing data from concept inventories. *Physical Review Physics Education Research*, *16*(1), 1–13. http://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevPhysEducRes.16.010141
 Burns, J. M. (1978). *Leadership*. Harper
- Bush, D., & Gelb, B. D. (2012). "Antitrust enforcement: an inflection point?" *Journal of Business Strategy* 33(6), 15–21. https://.doi.org10.1108/02756661211281462
- Cahyono, Y., Novitasari, D., Sihotang, M., Aman, M., Fahlevi, F., Nadeak, M., Siahaan, M., Asbari, M., & Purwanto, A. (2020). The effect of transformational leadership dimensions on job satisfaction and organizational commitment: Case studies in private university lecturers. *Solid States Technology*, 63(1S), 158–179.

 http://www.solidstatetechnology.us/index.php/JSST/article/view/707
- Carletti, E., Ongena, S., Siedlareek, J. P., & Spagnolo, G. (2020). The impacts of stricter merger legislation on bank mergers and acquisitions: Too big to fail and competition. *Federal Reserve Bank of Cleveland Working Paper*, *16*(4)R, 1–53. https://doi.org/10.26509/frbc-wp-201614r2
- Chang-Howe, W. (2019). The challenge of HR integration: A review of the M&A HR integration literature. *Journal of Chinese Human Resource Management*, 10(1), 19–34. http://doi.org/10.1108/JCHRM-03-2019-0009
- Cheng, Y. (2019). Integration duration of post-merger and leverage dynamics of mergers:

 Theory and evidence. *Pacific Accounting Review*, 31(2), 208–231.

 http://doi.org/10.1108/PAR-05-2018-0036

- Cloutier, C., & Ravasi, D. (2021). Using tables to enhance trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Strategic Organization*, 19(1), 113–133. http://doi.org/10.1177/1476127020979329 (trustworthiness)
- Cooke, F. L., Wood, G., Wang, M., & Li, A. S. (2020). Riding the tides of mergers and acquisitions by building a resilient workforce: A framework for studying the role of human resource management. *Human Resource Management Review*, 30(4), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2020.100747
- Cortina, J. M. (2020). On the whys and hows of qualitative research. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *167*(2020), 19–29. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-019-04195-8
- Crede, M., Jong, J., & Harms, P. (2019). The generalizability of transformational leadership across cultures: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 34(3), 139–155. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMP-11-2018-0506
- Cui, H., & Leung, S. C. H. (2020). The long-run performance of acquiring firms in mergers and acquisitions: Does managerial ability matter? *Journal of Contemporary Accounting and Economics*, 16 (2020), 1–18.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcae.2020.100185
- Dai, N. T., Free, C., & Gendron, Y. (2019). Interview-based research in accounting 2000-2014: Informal norms, translation and vibrancy. *Management Accounting**Research, 42(2019), 26–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mar.2018.06.002
- Damro, C., & Guay, T. (2012). Transatlantic merger relations: The pursuit of cooperation and convergence. *Journal of European Integration*, *34*(6), 643–661. https://doi.org/10.1080/07036337.2012.707365

- Daniels, E., Hondeghem, A., & Dochy, F. (2019). A review on leadership and leadership development in educational settings. *Educational Research Review*, 27(2019), 110–125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2019.02.003
- Dartey-Baah, K., Quartey, S. H., & Osafo, G. A. (2020). Examining occupational stress, job satisfaction and gender difference among bank tellers: Evidence from Ghana.

 International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management, 69(7), 1437–1454. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-07-2019-0323
- Dawadi, S., Shrestha, S., & Giri, R. A. (2021). Mixed methods research: A discussion on its types, challenges, and criticisms. *Journal of Practical Studies in Education*, 2(2), 25–36. http://dx.doi.org/10.46809/jpse.v2i2.20
- Degbey, W. Y., Rodgers, P., Kromah, M. D., & Weber, Y. (2020). The impact of psychological ownership on employee retention in mergers and acquisitions.

 Human Resource Management Review, 31(3), 1–15.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2020.100745
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (Eds.). (2011). The Sage handbook of qualitative research. Sage.
- Dhir, S., Ongsakul, V., Ahmed, Z. U., & Rajan, R. (2019). Integration of knowledge and enhancing competitiveness: A case of acquisition of Zain by Bharti Airtel.

 Journal of Business Research, 119(C), 674–678.

 http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.02.056
- Dinc, I. S., & Erel, I. (2013). Economic nationalism in mergers and acquisitions. *Journal of Finance*, 68(6), 2471–2514. https://doi.org/10.1111/jofi.12086

- Dirks, K. T., Sweeney, P. J., Dimotakis, N., & Woodruff, T. (2022). Understanding the changes and development of trust and the implications for new leaders. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 2022(180), 711–730. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-021-04902-4
- Donkor, F., & Zhou, D. (2020). Organisational commitment influences on the relationship between transactional and laissez-faire leadership styles and employee performance in the Ghanaian public service environment. *Journal of Psychology in Africa*, 30(1), 30–36.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/14330237.2020.1712808
- Dung, L. T., & Hai, P. V. (2020). The effects of transformational leadership and job satisfaction on commitment to organizational change: A three-component model extension approach. *The South-East Asian Journal of Management, 14*(1), 106–123. https://doi.org/10.21002/seam.v14i1.11585
- Dwivedi, P., Chaturvedi, V., & Vashist, J. K. (2020). Transformational leadership and employee efficiency: Knowledge sharing as mediator. *Benchmarking: An International Journal*, 27(4), 1571–1590. http://doi.org/10.1108/BIJ-08-2019-0356
- Edi, K., & Iravanti, L. (2019). How mergers and acquisitions affect firm performance and its quality. *Journal of Accounting, Finance and Auditing Studies*, *5*(3), 42–53. https://dx.doi:10.32602/jafas.2019.30
- Eliyana, A., & Maarif, S. (2019). Job satisfaction and organizational commitment effect in the transformational leadership towards employee performance. *European*

- Research on Management and Business Economics, 25(2019), 144–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iedeen.2019.05.001
- Eva, N., Robin, M., Sendjaya, S., Dierendonck, D., & Liden, R. C. (2019). Servant leadership: A systematic review and call for future research. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 30(2019), 111–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2018.07.004
- Farahnak, L. R., Ehrhart, M. G., Torres, E. M., & Aarons, G. A. (2020). The influence of transformational leadership and leader attitude on subordinate attitude and implementation success. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, *27*(1), 98–111. http://doi.org/10.1177/1548051818824529
- Faupel, S., & Suss, S. (2019). The effect of transformational leadership on employees during organizational change: An empirical analysis. *Journal of Change Management*, 19(3), 145–166. https://doi.org/10.1080/14697017.2018.1447006
- Febriani, D. M., & Yancey, G. B. (2019). The effect of integration approaches and human resources initiatives on changes in organizational culture and employee attitudes during a merger. *The Psychologist-Manager Journal*, 22(2),108–131. http://dx.doi:10.1037/mgr0000084
- Fotova Čiković, K., Lozić, J., & Guzovski, M. (2022). Do mergers and acquisitions improve bank efficiency? Evidence from North Macedonia. *Journal of International Studies*, 15(2), 77–93. http://doi.org/10.14254/2071-8330.2022/15-2/6

- Fourie, W., & Hohne, F. (2019). Thou shall not fail? Using theological impulses to critique the heroic bias in transformational leadership theory. *Leadership*, *15*(1), 44–57. http://doi.org/10.1177/1742715017730453
- Fusch, P., Fusch, G. E., & Ness, L. R. (2018). Denzin's paradigm shift: Revisiting triangulation in qualitative research. *Journal of Social Change*, 10(1), 19–32. https://doi.org/10.5590/JOSC.2018.10.1.02
- Gang, H. (2022). The application of narrative research in international relations.

 *Advances in Social Science, Education and Humanities Research, 673(2022),

 258–261. http://doi.org/10.2991/assehr.k.220706.052
- Gashema, B. (2019). How transformational leadership fuels employee's creative performance behaviors in the workplace? *International Journal of Research in Business and Social Science*, 8(4), 144–162.

 https://doi.org/10.20525/ijrbs.v8i4.271
- Gioia, D. (2021). A systematic methodology for doing qualitative research. *The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, *57*(1), 20–29.

 http://doi.org/10.1177/0021886320982715
- Gisella, L. P., & Chalid, D. A. (2017). Abnormal return and the characteristics of mergers and acquisitions in Indonesia. *Journal of Economics, Business, and Accountancy Ventura*, 20(1), 31–39. https://doi.org/10.14414/jebav.v20i1.538
- Gonzalez-Torres, T., Rodriguez-Sanchez, J. L., Pelechano-Barahona, E., & Garcia-Muina, F. E. (2020). A systematic review of research on sustainability in mergers

- and acquisitions. *Sustainability*, *12*(513), 1–18. http://doi.org/10.3390/su12020513
- Gravlee, C. C., Maxwell, C. R., Jacobsohn, A., & Bernard, H. R. (2018). Mode effects in cultural domain analysis: Comparing pile sort data collected via internet versus face-to-face interviews. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 21(2), 165–176. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2017.1341187
- Guest, G., Namey, E., & Chen, M. (2020). A simple method to assess and report thematic saturation in qualitative research. *Plos One, 15*(5), 1–17.

 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232076
- Gupta, V. (2020). Relationships between leadership, motivation and employee-level innovation: Evidence from India. *Personnel Review*, 49(7), 1363–1379. https://doi.org/10.1108/PR-11-2019-0595
- Hai, S., Wu, K., Park, I. J., Li, Y., Chang, Q., & Tanh, Y. (2020). The role of perceived high-performance HR practices and transformational leadership on employee engagement and citizenship behaviors. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 35(6), 513–526. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMP-03-2019-0139
- Han, S. H., Oh, E. G., & Kang, S. P. (2020). The link between transformational leadership and work-related performance: Moderated-mediating roles of meaningfulness and job characteristics. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 41(4), 519–533. http://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-04-2019-0181

- Harb, B., & Sidani, D. (2019). Transformational leadership for organizational change in the Lebanese public sector. *Problems and Perspectives in Management*, 17(2), 205–216. http://dx.doi.org/10.21511/ppm.17(2).2019.15
- Haspeslagh, P. C., & Jemison, D. B. (1991). Managing acquisitions. Free Press.
- Hassan, Y., & Lukman, R. (2020). Comparative effects of pre and post bank mergers and acquisitions on employee productivity in selected banks in Nigeria. *Economic Insights Trends and Challenges*, 9(1), 35–46.

 <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/publication/341965152_Comparative_Effects_of_Pre-and_Post_Bank_Mergers_and_Acquisitions_MA_on_Employee_Productivity_in_Negring_Productivity
- Haven, T. L., & Grootel, L. V. (2019). Preregistering qualitative research. *Accountability* in *Research*, 26(3), 229–244. https://doi.org/10.1080/08989621.2019.1580147
- Hayashi, P., Jr., Abib, G., & Hoppen, N. (2019). Validity in qualitative research: A processual approach. *The Qualitative Report*, 24(1), 98–112. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2019.3443
- Hays, D. G., & McKibben, W. B. (2021). Promoting rigorous research: Generalizability and qualitative research. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 99, 178–188. http://doi.org/10.1002/jcad.12365
- Hennink, M., & Kaiser, B. (2022). Sample sizes for saturation in qualitative research: A systematic review of empirical test. *Social Science & Medicine*, 292(2022), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.114523

- Hofstede, G. (1980). Culture's consequences: International differences in work-related values. Sage.
- Hosna, A. U., Islam, S., & Hamid, M. (2021). A review of the relationship of idealized influence, inspirational motivation, intellectual stimulation, and individual consideration with sustainable employees performance. *International Journal of Progressive Sciences and Technologies*, 25(1), 322–326. http://ijpsat.ijsht-journals.org
- Hossain, M. S. (2021). Mergers & Acquisitions (M&As) as an important strategic vehicle in business: Thematic areas, research avenues & possible suggestions. *Journal of Economics and Business*, 116(2021), 1–33.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jeconbus.2021.1.106004
- Houman, P. H., Dubois, A., & Lind, F. (2018). Process validation: Coping with three dilemmas in process-based single-case research. *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*, 33, 539–549. http://doi.org/10.1108/JBIM-07-2016-0152
- Hu, M., & Ngo, M. T. (2015). Cross-border mergers and acquisitions: Part two.

 *Corporate Finance Review, 19(6), 16–26. https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/cross-border-mergers-aquisition-part-two/docview/1691575208/se-2?accountid=14872
- Husband, G. (2020). Ethical data collection and recognizing the impact of semistructured interviews on research respondents. *Education Sciences*, 10(206), 1–12. http://doi.org/10.3390/educsci10080206

- Ibrahim, S. N. H., Suan, C. L., & Karatepe, O. M. (2019). The effects of supervisor support and self-efficacy on call center employees' work engagement and quitting intentions. *International Journal of Manpower*, 40(4), 688–703.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/IJM-12-2017-0320. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJM-12-2017-0320
- Iivari, N. (2018). Using member checking in interpretive research practice: A hermeneutic analysis of informants' interpretation of their organizational realities.
 Information Technology & People, 31(1), 111–133. http://doi.org/10.1108/ITP-07-2016-0168
- Institute for Mergers Acquisitions and Alliances. (2019). M&A Review . https://imaa-institute.org/mergers-and-acquisitions-statistics
- Jentoft, N., & Olsen, T. S. (2019). Against the flow in data collection: How data triangulation combined with a slow interview technique enriches data. *Qualitative Social Work*, 18(2), 179–193. http://doi.org/10.1177/1473325017712581
- Johnston, R., Harris, R., Jones, K., Manley, D., Wang, W. W., & Wolf, L. (2020).

 Quantitative methods II: How we moved on decades of change in philosophy, focus and methods. *Progress in Human Geography*, 44(5), 959–971.

 http://doi.org/10.1177/0309132519869451
- Kanygin, G., & Koretckaia, V. (2021). Analytical coding: Performing qualitative data analysis based on programming principles. *The Qualitative Report*, 26(2), 316–333. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2021.4342

- Kariuki, J. K. (2021). Idealized influence and inspirational motivation in a microfinance context: Review of literature. *International Journal of Organizational Leadership*, 10(2021)120–140. https://doi.org/10.33844/ijol.2021.60539
- Kartadjumena, E., & Rodgers, W. (2019). Executive compensation, sustainability, climate, environmental concerns, and company financial performance: Evidence from Indonesian Commercial Banks. *Sustainability*, *11*(6), 1–21.

 https://doi.org/10.3390/su11061673
- Kasimoglu, M., & Ammari, D. (2020). Transformational leadership and employee creativity across cultures. *Journal of Management Development*, *39*(4), 475–498. http://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-05-2019-0153
- Kern, F. G. (2018). The trials and tribulations of applied triangulation: Weighing different data sources. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 12, 166–181. https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689816651032
- Khan, S. N., Abdullah, S. M., Busari, A. H., Mubushar, M., & Khan, I. U. (2020).

 Reversing the lens: The role of followership dimensions in shaping transformational leadership behaviour; mediating role of trust in leadership.

 Leadership & Organizational Development Journal, 41(1), 1–18.

 http://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-03-2019-0100
- Khan, Z., Soundararajan, V., Wood, G., & Ahmma, M. F. (2020). Employee emotional resilience during post-merger integration across national boundaries: Reward and the mediating role of fairness norm. *Journal of World Business* 55, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jwb.2017.06.009

- Khattak, M. N., Zolin, R., & Muhammad, N. (2020). Linking transformational leadership and continuous improvement. The mediating role of trust. *Management Research*Review, 4(8), 931–950. http://doi.org/10.1108/MRR-06-2019-0268
- Koskull, C. (2020). Increasing rigor and relevance in service research through ethnography. *Journal of Services Marketing*, *34*(1), 74–77. http://doi.org/10.1108/JSM-03-2019-0143
- Kuehn, D., & Rohlfing, I. (2022). Do quantitative and qualitative research reflect two distinct cultures? An empirical analysis of 180 articles suggests no. *Sociological Methods & Research*, 0(0), 1–36. https://doi.org/10.1177/00491241221082597
- Kuntz, J., Davis, B., & Naswall, K. (2019). From transactional to transformational:
 Exploring the role of leadership style on CEO succession outcomes. *Leadership & Organizational Development Journal*, 40(7), 815–827.
 https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-01-2019-0012
- Langat, G. K., Linge, T. K., & Sikalieh, D. (2019). Influence of inspirational motivation on employee job performance in the insurance industry in Kenya. *International Journal of Research in Business and Social Science*, 8(6), 1–7.

 http://doi.org/ijrbs.v8i6.488
- Lester, J. N., Cho, Y., & Lochmiller, C. R. (2020). Learning to do qualitative data analysis: A starting point. *Human Resource Development Review, 19*(1), 94–106. http://doi.org/10.1177/1534484320903890

- Levitt, H. M. (2021). Qualitative generalization, not to the population but to the phenomenon: Reconceptualizing variation in qualitative research. *Qualitative Psychology*, 8(1), 95–110. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/quq0000184
- Levitt, H. M., Morrill, Z., Collins, K. M., & Rizo, J. (2021). The methodological integrity of critical qualitative research: Principles to support design and research review.

 Journal of Counseling Psychology, 68(3), 357–370.

 http://doi.org/10.1037/cou0000523
- Li, F., Chen, Y., & Liu, Y. (2019). Integration modes, global networks, and knowledge diffusion in overseas M&As by emerging market firms. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 23(7), 1289–1313. http://doi.org/10.1108/JKM-03-2818-0204
- Linneberg, M. S., & Korsgaard, S. (2019). Coding qualitative data: A synthesis guiding the novice. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 19(3), 259–270. http://doi.org/10.1108/QRJ-12-2018-0012
- Liu, H. (2019). Just the servant: An intersectional critique of servant leadership. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 156(4), 1099–1112. http://doi.oeg/10.1007/s10551-017-3633-0
- Liu, H. Y., Li, Y. X., Yang, R., & Li, X. P. (2019). How do Chinese firms perform before and after cross-border mergers and acquisitions? *Emerging Markets Finance and Trade*, 52(2), 348–364. https://doi.org/10.1080/1540496X.2018.1556636
- Liu, Y., Vrontis, D., Visser, M., Stokes, P., Smith, S., Moore, N., Thrassou, A., & Ashta, A. (2021). Talent management and the HR function in cross-cultural mergers and acquisitions: The role and impact of bi-cultural identity. *Human Resource*Management Review, 31(2021), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2020.100744

- Lobe, B., Morgan, D., & Hoffman, K. A. (2020). Qualitative data collection in an era of social distancing. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 19(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406920937875
- Magasi, C. (2021). The role of transformational leadership on employee performance: A perspective of employee empowerment. *European Journal of Business and Management Research*, 6(6), 21–28. http://dx.doi.org/10.24018/ejbmr.2021.6.6.1137
- Mahdikhani, M., & Yazdani, B. (2020). Transformational leadership and service quality in e-commerce business: The role of trust and team performance. *International Journal of Law and Management, 62*(1). 23–46. http://doi.org/10.1108/IJLMA-12-2018-0290
- Maher, C., Hadfield, M., Hutchings, M., & Eyto, A. (2018). Ensuring rigor in qualitative data analysis: A design research approach to coding combining NVivo with traditional methods. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 17*, 1–13. http://doi.org/10.1177/1609406918786362
- Mahmood, M., Uddin, A., & Fan, L. (2019). The influence of transformational leadership on employees' creative process engagement. *Management Decision*, *57*(3), 741–764. http://doi.org/10.1108/MD-07-2017-0707
- Mahmud, A. (2022). Learning culture, trust culture and knowledge application: The mediating effect of transformational leadership. *Journal of Information and Knowledge Management Systems*, *52*(2), 270–283.

 http://doi.org/10.1108/VJIKMS-01-2020-0003

- Majeed, S., & Kureshi, N. (2019). Investigating impacts on motivational potential and commitment due to acquisition. *Journal of Strategy and Performance Management*, 7(1), 4–27. https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/investigating-impacts-on-motivational-potential/docview/2171578511/se-2
- Majid, A., & Samsudin, M. (2021). Impact of achievement motivation and transformational leadership on teacher performance mediated by organizational commitment. *Educational Science: Theory and Practice, 21*(3), 107–119. https://doi.org/10.12738/jestp.2021.3.008
- Majumdar, S. K., Taylacicegi, U., & Moussawi, R. (2013). Mergers and synergy: Lesson from contemporary telecommunications history. *Telecommunication Policy*, 36(2), 140–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.telpol.2011.11.010
- Manopp, V. P. (2020). Transformational leadership as a factor that decreases turnover intention: A mediation of work stress and organizational citizenship behavior. *The TOM Journal*, 32(6), 1395–1412. http://doi.org/10.1108/TQM-05-2020-0097
- Mansaray, H. E. (2019). The role of leadership style in organizational change management: A literature review. *Journal of Human Resource Management*, 7(1), 18–31. http://doi.org/10.11648/j.jhrm.20190701.13
- Marquis, C., Guthrie, D., & Almandoz, J. (2012). State activism and the hidden incentives behind bank acquisitions. *Social Science Research*, 41(1), 130–145. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssresearch.2011.07.001
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, B. (2016). Designing qualitative research. (6th ed.). Sage

- Maxwell, J. A. (2021). Why qualitative methods are necessary for generalization. *Qualitative Psychology, 1*(8), 111–118. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/qup0000173
- McCann, M. (2013). The decline in abandoned corporate acquisitions in the UK:

 Regulatory influence. *Journal of Financial Regulation and Compliance*, 21(3),

 259–267. http://doi.org/10.1108/JFRC-11-2012-0047
- McCrory, R., & Stylianides, A. J. (2014). Reasoning and proving in mathematics textbooks for prospective elementary teachers. *International Journal of Education Research*, 64(2014), 119–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijer.2013.09.003
- Mekpor, B., & Dartey-Baah, K. (2020). Beyond the job description: Exploring the mediating role of leaders' emotional intelligence on the nexus between leadership styles and voluntary workplace behavior in the Ghanaian banking sector. *Journal of Management Development*, 39(2), 240–252. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-04-2019-0104
- Mishra, P. (2019). How mergers and acquisitions affected financial performance of firms in India manufacturing sector? *Eurasian Journal of Business and Economics*, 12(3), 79–96. https://doi.org/10.17015/ejbe.2019.023.05
- Morgan, H. (2022). Conducting a qualitative document analysis. *The Qualitative Report*, 27(1), 64–77. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2022.5044
- Morgan, J. P. (2019). 2019 Global M&A outlook.

 www.jpmorgan.com/jpmpdf/1320746694177.pdf
- Morgan, J. P. (2020). Global M&A Outlook: Navigating A Period of Uncertainty. New York City.

- Musah, A., Abdulai, M., & Baffour, H. (2020). The effect of mergers and acquisitions on bank performance in Ghana. *Asian Journal of Economics and Empirical**Research, 7(1), 36–45. https://doi.org/10.20448/journal.501.2020.71.36.45
- Natow, R. S. (2019). The use of triangulation in qualitative studies employing elite interviews. *Qualitative Research*, 20(2), 160–173. http://doi.org/10.1177/1468794119830077
- Neubauer, B. E., Witkop, C. T., & Varpio, L. (2019). How phenomenology can help us learn from the experiences of others. *Perspective Medical Education*, 8(1), 90–97. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-019-0509-2
- Ngozwana, N. (2018). Ethical dilemmas in qualitative research methodology:

 Researcher's reflections. *International Journal of Educational Methodology*, 4(1),

 19–28. http://doi.org/10.12973/ijem.4.1.19
- Nkiwane, P., & Chipeta, C. (2019). The performance of cross-border acquisitions targeting African firms. *Emerging Market Review 39*, 68–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ememar.2019.03.004
- Norris, K., Ghahremani, H., & Lemoine, G. J. (2021). Is it laissez-faire leadership or delegation? A deeper examination of an over-simplified leadership phenomenon.

 Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies, 28(3), 322–339.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051821997407
- Northouse, P. G. (2019). Leadership: Theory and practice (8th ed.). Thousand Oaks, Sage.

- Oh, J. H., & Johnston, W. J. (2020). How post-merger integration duration effects merger outcomes. *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*, *36*(5), 807–820. https://doi.org/10.1108/JBIM-11-2019-0476
- Olcay, G. A., Oner, M. A., & Olca, A. B. (2019). A conceptual view of exergy destruction in mergers and acquisitions. *Technological Forecasting & Social Change*, 143 (2019), 336–352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2018.06.008
- Oliveira, R. T., & Figueira, S. (2018). The specificities of interviewing in China.

 *Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal, 21(1), 118–134.

 http://doi.org/10.1108/QMR-11-2016-0117
- Omoregie, O. K., Addae, J. A., Coffie, S., Ampong, G. O. A., & Ofori, K. S. (2019).

 Factors influencing consumer loyalty: Evidence from the Ghanaian retail banking industry. *International Journal of Bank Marketing*, *37*(3), 798–820.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/IJBM-04-2018-0099
- Owie, E. T. (2019). Organizational change and improved performance: The role of transformational leadership. *Humanities, Management, Art, Education & the Social Sciences Journal*, 7(4), 1–8.

 http://doi.org/10.22624/AIMS/HUMANITIES/V7N4P1
- Paechter, C. F. (2013). Researching sensitive issues online: Implications of a hybrid insider / outsider position in a retrospective ethnographic study. *Qualitative Research*, *13*(1), 71–86. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794112446107
- Page, L., & Schoder, J. (2019). Making change last: Leadership is the key. *Journal of Business Strategy*, 40(2), 32–41. https://doi.org/10.1108/JBS-01-2018-0003

- Palalic, R., & Mhamed, E. M. A. S. (2020). Transformational leadership and MNCs:

 Evidence from Morocco community. *Journal of Enterprising Communities*, 14(2),

 201–230. https://doi.org./10.1108/JEC-01-2020-0002
- Palinkas, L. A., Mendon, S. J., & Hamilton, A. B. (2019). Innovations in mixed methods evaluations. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 2019(40), 423–442. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-040218-044215
- Parameswaran, U. D., Ozawa-Kirk, J. L., & Latendresse, G. (2020). To live (code) or to not: A new method for coding in qualitative research. *Qualitative Social Work*, 19(4), 630–644. http://doi.org/10.1177/1473325019840394
- Peach, R. K., Schenk, K. A., Nathan, M. R., & Beck, K. M. (2018). Construct validity, external validity, reliability for a battery of language-specific attention tasks *Aphasiology*, 32(6), 618–645. https://doi.org/10.1080/02687038.2018.1454885
- Peng, J., Li, M., Wang, Z., & Lin, Y. (2020). Transformational leadership and employees' reactions to organizational change: Evidence from a meta-analysis.

 The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science, 1–29.

 http://doi.org/10.1177/0021886320920366
- Ploder, A., & Hamann, J. (2021). Practices of ethnographic research: Introduction to the special issue. *Journal of Contemporary Ethnography*, 50(1), 3–10. http://doi.org/10.1177/0891241620979100
- Poturak, M., Mekic, E., Hadziahmetovic, N., & Budur, T. (2020). Effectiveness of transformational leadership among different cultures. *International Journal of*

- Social Sciences & Educational Studies, 7(3), 119–129. http://doi.org/10.23918/ijsses.v7i3p119
- Purwanto, A., Purba, J. T., Bernarto, I., & Sijabat, R. (2021). Effects of transformational leadership, job satisfaction, and organizational citizenship behavior. *Jurnal Inovasi Bisni*, 9(2021), 61–69. https://doi.org/10.35314/inovbiz.v9i1.1801
- Rao-Nicholson, R., Khan, Z., Akhtar, P., & Tarba, S. Y. (2020). The contingent role of distributed leadership in the relationship between HR practices and organizational ambidexterity in the cross-border M&As of emerging market multinationals. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 31(2), 232–253. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2016.1216882
- Rashid, Y., Rashid, A., Warrach, M. A., Sabir, S. S., & Waseem, A. (2019). Case study method: A step-by-step guide for business researchers. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 18(2019), 1–13. http://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919862424
- Reddy, K., Qamar, M., & Yahanpath, N. (2019). Do mergers and acquisition create value? The post-mergers and acquisitions performance of acquiring forms in China and India. *Studies in Economics and Finance*, *36*(2), 240–264. https://doi.org/10.1108/SEF-01-2018-0027
- Renneboog, L., & Vansteenkiste, C. (2019). Failure and success in mergers and acquisitions. *Journal of Corporate Finance*, 58(2019), 650–699. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcorpfin.2019.07.010

- Renz, S. M., Carrington, J. M., & Badger, T. A. (2018). Two strategies for qualitative content analysis: An intramethod approach to triangulation. *Qualitative Health Research*, 28(5), 824–831. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732317753586
- Reza, M. H. (2019). Components of transformational leadership behavior. *International Journal of Multidisciplinary Research*, 5(3), 119–124. www.eprajournals.com
- Rizwan, A., Naveed, S., & Ahmed, H. Z. (2020). Challenges and outcomes of transformational leadership in acquisition: The case of Bank Islami Pakistan Limited. *Paradigms*, SI(1), 57–65. http://doi.org/10.24312/20000110
- Roa, U., & Mishra, T. (2020). Posterior analysis of mergers and acquisitions in the international financial market: A re-appraisal. *Research in International Business* and Finance, 51(2020), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ribaf.2019.101062
- Robertson, J. R., & Roush, C. W. (2013). Procedural and substantive differences in merger challenges by different authorities in the United States. *The Antitrust Bulletin*, 58(2), 201–223. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0003603X1305800202
- Rodriguez-Sanchez, J. L., Mora-Valentin, E. M., & Ortiz-de-Urbina-Criado, M. (2020).

 Human resource management in mergers and acquisition planning. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 33(1), 16–28.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/JOCM-01-2018-0007
- Rose, J., & Johnson, C. W. (2020). Contextualizing reliability and validity in qualitative research: Toward more rigorous and trustworthy qualitative social science in leisure research. *Journal of Leisure Research*, 51(4), 432–451.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/00222216.2020.1722042

- Rouzies, A., Colman, H. L., & Angwin, D. (2019). Recasting the dynamics of post-acquisition integration: An embeddedness perspective. *Long Range Planning*, 52(2019), 271–282. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lrp.2018.03.003
- Rozen-Baker, Z. (2018). Could the pre-M&A performances predict integration risk in cross-border M&As? *International Journal of Organizational Analysis*, 26(4), 652–668. http://doi.org/10.1108/IJOA-07-2017-1199
- Sachsenmaier, S., & Guo, Y. (2019). Building trust in cross-cultural integration: A study of Chinese mergers and acquisitions in Germany. *International Journal of Cross Cultural Management*, 19(2), 194–217.

 http://doi.org/10.1177/1470595819856387
- Saira, S., Mansoor, S., & Ali, M. (2021). Transformational leadership and employee outcomes: The mediating role of psychological empowerment. *Leadership & Organizational Development Journal*, 42(1), 130–143. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-05-2020-0189
- Samal, A., Patra, S., & Chatterjee, D. (2019). Impact of culture on organizational readiness to change: Context of bank M&A. *An International Journal*, 28(5), 1503–1523. http://doi.org/10.1108/BIJ-10-2019-0454
- Sanchez, J. L. R., & Criado, M. O. U. (2019). Thinking about people in mergers and acquisition processes. *International Journal of Manpower*, 40(4), 643–657. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJM-05-2018-0143
- Sanders, S. (2019). Firms mergers and acquisitions. *Managerial Finance*, *45*(11), 1249–1353. https://dx.doi.org/10.1108/MF-10-2019-636

- Sarala, R., Vaara, E., & Junni, P. (2019). Beyond merger syndrome and cultural differences: New avenues for research on the human side of global mergers and acquisitions. *Journal of World Business* 54(4), 307–321. https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jwb.2017.10.001
- Schonreiter, I. M. (2019). Methodologies for process harmonization in the post-merger integration phase. *Business Process Management Journal*, 24(2), 330–356. http://doi.org/10.1108/BPMJ-07-2016-0141
- Schweizer, D., Walker, T., & Zhang, A. (2019). Cross-border acquisitions by Chinese enterprises: The benefits and disadvantages of political connections. *Journal of Corporate Finance*, *57*(2019), 65–84.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcorpfin.2017.12.023
- Sechelski, A. N., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2019). A call for enhancing saturation at the qualitative data analysis stage vis the use of multiple qualitative data analysis approaches. *The Qualitative Report, 24*(4), 795–821.

 https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol24/iss4/11
- Seitz, S. R., & Owens, B. P. (2021). Transformable? A multi-dimensional exploration of transformational leadership and follower implicit person theories. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 30(1), 95–109.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/1359432X.2020.1830761
- Shafi, A. A. (2020). Researching young offenders: Navigating methodological challenges and reframing ethical responsibilities. *International Journal of Research &*

- Method in Education, 43(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727X.2018.1529746
- Shah, B. A., & Butt, K. A. (2019). Impact of mergers and acquisitions on the corporate performance in FMCG sector in India. *I-Manager's Journal on Management,* 14(2), 22–35. http://dx.doi.org/10.26634/jmgt.14.2.15418
- Shroff, R., & Ambast, A. (2013). Sections 5 and 6 of the Competition Act, 2002:

 Demystifying the competition implications of mergers and acquisitions in India. *Journal of Financial Crime*, 20(1), 88–115.

 http://doi.org/10.1108/13590791311287382
- Siswanto, R., & Yuliana, I. (2022). Linking transformational leadership with job satisfaction: The mediating roles of trust and team cohesiveness. *Journal of Management Development*, 41(2), 94–117. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-09-2020-0293
- Skaaning, S. E. (2018). Different types of data and the validity of democracy measures.

 *Politics and Governance 6(1), 105–116. https://doi.org/10.17645/pag.v6i1.1183
- Slettebo, T. (2020). Participant validation: Exploring a contested tool in qualitative research. *Qualitative Social Work*, $\theta(0)$, 1–16.
- Snyder, H. (2019). Literature review as a research methodology: An overview and guidelines. *Journal of Business Research*, 104(2019), 333–339.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.07.039

http://doi.org/10.1177/1473325020968189

- Stoecker, R., & Avila, E. (2021). From mixed methods to strategic design. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 24(6), 627–640.

 https://doi.1080/13645579.2020.1799639
- Surangi, H. A. K. N. S. S. (2022). The experience of applying a narrative research approach with female entrepreneurs in Sri Lanka. *Sage Open*, 1–11. http://doi.org/10.1177/258244022196143
- Svensson, L., & Doumas, K. (2013). Contextual and analytical qualities of research methods exemplified in research on teaching. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 19(6), 441–450. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800413482097
- Takahashi, A. R. W., & Araujo, L. (2020). Case study research: Opening up research opportunities. *RAUSP Management Journal*, *55*(1), 100–111. http://doi.org/10.1108/RAUSP-05-2019-0109
- Talbert, E. (2018). Beyond data collection: Ethical issues in minority research. *Ethics & Behavior*, 29(7), 531–546. https://doi.org/10.1080/10508422.2018.1531005
- Tampakoudis, I., Nerantzidis, M., Subeniotis, D., Soutsas, A., & Kiosses, N. (2020).

 Banks mergers and acquisitions in Greece: The financial crisis and its effect on shareholders wealth. *International Journal of Managerial Finance*, 16(2), 273–296. https://dx.doi.org/10.1108/IJMF-02-2019-0080
- Tanna, S., Yousef, I., & Nnadi, M. (2019). Probability of mergers and acquisitions deal failure. *Journal of Financial Economics*, *13*(1), 1–30. https://doi.org/10.1108/JFEP-09-2019-0182

- Teerikangas, S., & Colman, H. L. (2019). Theorizing in the qualitative study of mergers and acquisitions. *Scandinavian Journal of Management 36*, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scaman.2019.101090
- Teti, E., & Tului, S. (2020). Do mergers and acquisitions create shareholder value in the infrastructure and utility sectors? Analysis of market perceptions. *Journal of Utilities Policy 64*, 1–8. https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jup.2020.10105
- Thomas, G. (2021). How to do your case, Sage
- Thomas, M., & Cardot, R. (2016). The latest boom in mergers and acquisitions: Should we be worried? *Strategic Direction*, 32(6), 2–4. https://doi.org/10.1108/SD-03-2016-0032
- Thuan, L. C. (2020). Motivating follower creativity by offering intellectual stimulation.

 *International Journal of Organizational Analysis, 28(4), 817–829.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOA-06-2019-1799
- Tracy, S. J. (2019). Qualitative research methods: Collecting evidence crafting analysis, communicating impact. John Wiley & Sons.
- Tyagi, K. (2020). Merger control in the telecom industry: A landscape transformed.

 **Journal of Business Strategy, 41(6), 3–9. http://doi.org/10.1108/JBS-10-2018-0173

 Output

 **Discrete: Tyagi, K. (2020). Merger control in the telecom industry: A landscape transformed.

 **Journal of Business Strategy, 41(6), 3–9. http://doi.org/10.1108/JBS-10-2018-0173

 Output

 Output

 **Journal of Business Strategy, 41(6), 3–9. http://doi.org/10.1108/JBS-10-2018-0173
- Vanwalleghem, D., Yildirim, C., & Mukanya, A. (2020). Leveraging local knowledge or global advantage: Cross-border bank mergers and acquisitions in Africa.

 *Emerging Market Review, 42(2020), 1–21.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ememar.2019.100656

- Voth, J. M. (2020). Five essentials for successful merger integration: What the aerospace and defence industry knows. *Journal of Business Strategy*, 42(5), 304–314. https://doi.org/10.1108/JBS-02-2020-0045
- Wang, D., Hain, D. S., Larimo, J., & Dao, L. T. (2020). Cultural differences and synergy realization in cross-border acquisitions: The moderating effect of acquisition process. *Journal of International Business Review*, 29, 101675, 1–27.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibusrev.2020.101675
- Williams, R., Jr., Raffo, D. M., & Clark, L. A. (2018). Charisma as an attribute of transformational leaders: What about credibility. *Journal of Management Development*, 37(6), 512–524. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-03-2018-0088
- Williams, H. (2021). The meaning of phenomenology: Qualitative and philosophical phenomenological research methods. *The Qualitative Report*, *26*(2), 366–385. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2021.4587
- Wuryani, E., Rodli, A. F., Sutarsi, S., Dewi, N. N., & Arif, D. (2021). Analysis of decision support system on situational leadership styles on work motivation and employee performance. *Management Science Letters*, 11(2021), 365–372. http://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2020.9.033
- Xie, L. (2020). The impact of servant leadership and transformational leadership on learning organization: A comparative analysis. *Leadership and Organization Development Journal*, 41(2), 220–236. http://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-04-2019-0148

- Yeong, M. L., Ismail, R., Ismail, N. H., & Hamzah, M. I. (2018). Interview protocol refinement: Fine-tuning qualitative research interview questions for multi-racial populations in Malaysia. *The Qualitative Report, 23*(11), 2700–2713. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol23/iss11/7
- Yin, R. K. (2018). Case study research and applications (6th ed.). Sage Publication.
- Yizhong, X., Baranchenko, Y., Lin, Z., Lau, C. K., & Ma, J. (2019). The influences of transformational leadership on employee employability. Evidence from China. *Employee Relations*, 41(1), 101–118. https://doi.org/10.1108/ER-02-2018-0052
- Yousaf, N. (2017). A case against transformational leadership: Empirical examples from the political history of South Asia. *International Journal of Public Leadership*, 13(3), 190–212. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPL-03-2017-0014
- Yue, C. A., Men, L. R., & Ferguson, M. A. (2019). Bridging transformational leadership, transparent communication, and employee openness to change: The mediating role of trust. *Public Relations Review*, 45(2019), 1–13.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2019.04.012
- Zhao, X., Ma, H., & Hao, T. (2019). Acquirer size, political connections and mergers and acquisitions performance: Evidence from China. *Studies in Economics and Finance*, *36*(2), 311–332. https://doi.org/10.1108/SEF-05-2017-0112
- Zuraik, A., & Kelly, L. (2019). The role of CEO transformational leadership and innovation climate in exploration and exploitation. *European Journal of Innovation Management*, 22(1), 84–104. https://doi.org/10.1108/EJIM-10-2017-0142

Appendix A: Email Invitation Letter

Dear (Participant, Name):

The study will take the form of an in-depth interview of a minimum of 5 participants lasting approximately 60-90 minutes and will be in their offices in Accra. Your participation and information will be protected consistently with Walden University's confidentiality guidelines. Your participation will be instrumental in providing the required data best to analyze the leadership and management bank acquisition. If you decide to participate, I will send you a consent form via email that dictates your rights during the process and the purpose of the doctoral study. At the end of this study, I will share results and findings with participants, scholars, and other stakeholders.

Participation in the interviews will be voluntary, and the right to decline to take part or stop at any time during the interview will be respected.

Please advise if you have any questions or require any additional information. My contact information is

Thank you for your time and consideration.

Appendix B: Interview Protocol Guide

Intervi	ew Scheduled Date:Interview Date:
Intervi	lewee Identification No: A \square
□Sign	ed content form received □Confirm confidently, and voluntary □Informed that
transcı	ript will be available
The pu	arpose of this case study is to explore leadership skills needed to implement
merge	rs and acquisitions in Ghana.
Demog	graphics:
Currer	nt Job Title:
No. of	years on Job:
Interv	iew Questions
The fo	llowing are the open-ended questions for the interviews:
1.	What was the level of your involvement in the planning of the merger of the two
	institutions?
2.	What are the essential leadership skills needed to implement the merger?
3.	How does the application of leadership skills help in improving your planning
	process?
4.	What was the feedback from the team in performing your role as a leader during
	the merger?
5.	How did you communicate your vision to the team to drive their performance?
6.	What strategy did you put in place to ensure team commitment during and after
	the integration process?

- 7. What are some of the difficulties that leaders face in implementing the integration of the merger?
- 8. How did you inspire your team members' involvement in the planning and implementation of the merger?
- 9. What were your general impressions on the performance of the merger?

Appendix C: National Institutes of Health (NIH) Certificate

Protecting Human Subject Research Participants

11/03/2012 11:01

